

Working Papers

Global Migration: Consequences and Responses

Paper 2019/21, July 2019

Lebanon's Border Regime: Fluid Rigidity, Foreign Interference, and Hybrid Security Assemblages

Research report

Amreesha Jagarnathsingh

Lebanon Support



Co-funded by the Horizon 2020 programme of the European Union



<u>Team</u> Author: Amreesha Jagarnathsingh Field Research Assistant: Cybele Athmeh Research Assistants: Alli Divine, Johanna Huelzer, Marie Murray, Camille Zouein Programme Officer: Mia Bou Khaled Deputy Director, Publications: Léa Yammine Director: Dr. Marie-Noëlle AbiYaghi

© Lebanon Support, Beirut

No part of this publication may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying, recording, or other electronic or mechanical methods, without the prior written permission of the publisher, except in the case of brief quotations and referencing in critical reviews and articles, and certain other non-commercial uses permitted by copyright law.

Reference: RESPOND D2.2

This research was conducted under the Horizon 2020 project 'RESPOND Multilevel Governance of Migration and Beyond' (770564). The sole responsibility of this publication lies with the authors. The European Union is not responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to: <u>contact@lebanon-support.org</u> This document is available for download at <u>https://www.respondmigration.com/</u>

Contents

Acknowledgements	2
About the project	4
Executive Summary/Abstract	5
1. Introduction	6
2. Methodology	7
3. Developments: Lebanon's borderlands as dynamic spaces	8
3.1 Colonial legacies	8
3.2 The Blue Line: window-dressing at the Lebanese southern border	9
3.3 Intertwined histories and the 'porosity' of the Lebanese-Syrian border	11
3.4 Developments since 2011: militarised borders and restrictive immigration policies	12
4. Legal Framework: between 'laisser-faire' legislations and ad hoc policies	13
4.1 Pre-entry measures: established laws and new constraints	14
Closing the doors: the Lebanese-Syrian border	16
4.2. Border controls at land and sea	18
Border surveillance at sea: a fractured and inadequate defense	18
4.3. Internal Controls: double jeopardy for irregular migrants	19
Internal controls and security measures	21
4.4. Return, detention, and readmission	22
5. Border management in Lebanon - a hybrid security assemblage	22
5.1. Formal security actors in Lebanon	23
5.2 Complementing non-state security mechanisms	24
5.3 Supranational actors	26
6 Challenges in Implementing Border and Migration controls	26
6.1 Pre-entry: restrictions and realities	26
6.2 At the border	30
Lebanon's southern border	30
The Lebanese-Syrian border	31
6.3 Internal controls: arbitrary and gendered treatment	33
6.4 Detention, return, and deportation	36
6.5 Co-operation among sub-national, national and supranational actors	39
Limited coordination within and between agencies	40
Blurred lines between international humanitarian aid and security reinforcement	41
Externalised border controls: the EU-approach	41
Security assistance 'bonanza': a lack of strategy	43
7. Conclusion	44
References and sources	46

Acknowledgements

Lebanon Support would like to thank all interlocutors taking part in this research for sharing their experiences and reflections. We would also like to extend our thanks to the colleagues within the Migration Governance Network (Lebanon), for taking part in a focus group organised in November 2018. We are particularly grateful for Dr. Assaf Dahdah, and our colleagues from the University of Göttingen and University of the Aegean, whose valuable feedback to previous versions of this report have contributed to the final version.

About the project

RESPOND: Multilevel Governance of Mass Migration in Europe and Beyond is a comprehensive study of responses to the 2015 Refugee Crisis. One of the most visible impacts of the refugee crisis is the polarization of politics in EU Member States and intra-Member State policy incoherence in responding to the crisis. Incoherence stems from diverse constitutional structures, legal provisions, economic conditions, public policies and cultural norms, and more research is needed to determine how to mitigate conflicting needs and objectives. With the goal of enhancing the governance capacity and policy coherence of the European Union (EU), its Member States and neighbours, RESPOND brings together fourteen partners from eleven countries and several different disciplines. In particular, the project aims to:

- provide an in-depth understanding of the governance of recent mass migration at macro, meso and micro levels through cross-country comparative research;
- critically analyse governance practices with the aim of enhancing the migration governance capacity and policy coherence of the EU, its member states and third countries.

The countries selected for the study are Austria, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iraq, Italy, Lebanon, Poland, Sweden, Turkey and the United Kingdom. By focusing on these countries, RESPOND studies migration governance along five thematic fields: (1) Border management and security, (2) Refugee protection regimes, (3) Reception policies, (4) Integration policies, and (5) Conflicting Europeanization. These fields literally represent refugees' journeys across borders, from their confrontations with protection policies, to their travels through reception centers, and in some cases, ending with their integration into new societies.

To explore all of these dimensions, RESPOND employs a truly interdisciplinary approach, using legal and political analysis, comparative historical analysis, political claims analysis, socio-economic and cultural analysis, longitudinal survey analysis, interview based analysis, and photo voice techniques (some of these methods are implemented later in the project). The research is innovatively designed as multi-level research on migration governance now operates beyond macro level actors, such as states or the EU. Migration management engages meso and micro level actors as well. Local governments, NGOs, associations and refugees are not merely the passive recipients of policies, but are shaping policies from the ground-up.

The project also focuses on learning from refugees. RESPOND defines a new subject position for refugees, as people who have been forced to find creative solutions to life threatening situations and as people who can generate new forms of knowledge and information as a result.

Executive Summary

This report seeks to analyse border and migration governance in Lebanon; it provides an overview of legislation and policies concerned with border management and control in Lebanon, by systematically analysing pre-entry controls, controls at the border, internal control regimes, and return policies. Moreover, by examining the role of national and international actors in migration and border management in Lebanon, the report also aims to shed light on geopolitical factors and the impact of foreign interventions to local governance and sovereignty, as well as underlying complex dynamics between security assistance and humanitarian aid in the context of a 'fragile' or 'weak' state. Lastly, the report highlights how border policies and interventions impact refugees' and migrants' lived experiences.

This report is part of RESPOND, a Horizon 2020 project studying multi-level migration governance from 2011-2017 through cross-country comparative research in source, transit, and destination countries in 11 different countries. It is the second in a series of five¹ focusing on Lebanon.

¹ For the first report, see Lebanon Support, 2018a.

1. Introduction

Understanding the construction processes of contemporary modern nation states in the Levantine geographical space, bilad al-sham, the configuration of 'imagined communities' (Anderson, 1991:53), and the subsequent erection of physical borders, requires a historiographic exercise. It invites a reexamination of (sub and supra) national histories and trajectories in the context of the Ottoman Empire, beyond a narrow vision of state borders. State building processes (fiscality, justice, public administration) were primarily run centrally in Istanbul. In the frame of the *tanzimat* reforms within the Empire, these were handed to the mutasarrifiya, i.e. the autonomous subdivision of Mount-Lebanon (1861-1915). National identifications were multiple, blurred, and evolving (Carol Hakim, 2013:251, cited in Picard, 2016:29). Hence, in the Levant space, a differentiation of national identity based on ethnic characteristics was for a long time irrelevant (Smith, 1986:23-35), leading to challenge many dominant binary historiography narratives setting opposition between Christians and Muslims, or the centre and the peripheries. Physical borders that shape current Lebanon are the fruit of a succession of areas of influence and subsequent colonial mandates in the region. Important milestones are the Anglo-French Sykes-Picot agreement in 1916, drawing the delimitation of what have become national territories within the Levant, and the proclamation of Greater Lebanon in 1920, ahead of the declaration of the Republic of Lebanon in 1926, sealing the separation of Lebanon and Syria (Picard et al., 2016:27). Furthermore, since 1948, the Israeli-Palestinian question has disrupted borders in the region, and especially added strain to Lebanon's southern border.

The establishment of Lebanon's borders, as well as their management, remains complex until today. In 2019, Lebanon hosts the world's highest per-capita number of registered refugees (approximately 1.1 to 1.8 million)², notably from Syria, but also from Palestine, Palestinian refugees from Syria, Iraq, Sudan, and other countries (UNHCR, 2018; European Commission, 2018a; LCRP, 2017:8). The country is also home to a large number of migrant workers (over estimately 250,000), particularly from Ethiopia, Bangladesh, the Philippines, and Sri Lanka (Lebanon Support 2018:17). In the light of global 'threats' of migration, notably following the eruption of the Syrian crisis, the influence of global powers on Lebanon's borders reverberates until today. The complexity of border management in Lebanon is exacerbated by Lebanon's politically divided landscape, which sees support by international geopolitical actors with opposing aims, as well as by the hybrid character of formal and informal local security mechanisms involved at the border.

It is in this context that this report seeks to analyse border and migration governance in Lebanon. Defining border management as an 'ensemble of legislation, policies, implementation practices, institutions, and actors that are concerned with defining, conceptualising, and policing of the external border' (Karamanidou and Kasparek, 2018), the report first provides an overview of border determination processes in Lebanon, or the lack thereof, under colonial powers. Then, the report evaluates legislation and policies concerned

² It should be noted that Lebanon also hosts large numbers of unregistered refugees; as Lebanon does not consider itself a country of asylum, refugee registration is mainly conducted by UN agencies (UNHCR and UNRWA). However, little information is available on the frequency with which these numbers are updated. Moreover, as UNHCR registration is not obligatory, many refugees have not registered. Lastly, as has been the case for Syrian refugees in Lebanon since May 2015, UN authorities may be required to suspend registration upon government request (Lebanon Support, 2018a:14).

with border control in Lebanon, by examining pre-entry controls, controls at the border, internal control regimes, and return policies, on the one hand, as well as governance practices, on the other. In doing so, the report aims to analyse an increased securitisation of Lebanon's borders. Lastly, this report analyses a variety of formal and informal actors in border management, their level of cooperation, as well as implementation challenges. A special focus highlights how this context affects the daily lives of (Palestinian) Syrian asylum seekers, refugees, and migrants in the country.

2. Methodology

The report relied on an extensive review of the existing literature as well as in-depth fieldwork.³ Desk research included, notably, the examination of policy documents, newspaper articles, (I)NGO reports, and academic literature on border management in Lebanon. Fieldwork consisted of 79 interviews at the micro-level (60) and meso-level (19), as well as a focus group, all conducted between April 2018 and February 2019. All interviews followed semi-structured interview guides.⁴ Lebanon Support did not provide incentives: when necessary, interlocutors were provided with relevant referral contacts for proper assistance. An Information Letter explaining the purpose of the project was read to all interlocutors, who then provided oral or written consent to participate. Interlocutors were assured that their identity would remain anonymous during all phases of the research, unless they explicitly agreed to the public use of their name. Except one interview via Skype, all interviews took place in person. Interviews took place in rural and urban areas in Beirut, Mount Lebanon, southern Lebanon (Saida, Sour), northern Lebanon (Akkar, Tripoli), and the Bekaa Valley (Zahle, Majdal Anjar).

At the micro-level, 60 interviews were conducted with Syrian (56) and Palestinian Syrian (4) refugees arriving to Lebanon after the eruption of the Syrian crisis in 2011. Our interlocutors consisted of 29 male and 31 female interviewees, all aged 18 or above. Interviews mainly took place in Arabic. Ethical considerations during the micro-level interviews highlighted complex dynamics between researchers and our interlocutors, trying to balance a respect for privacy with obligations to obtain the necessary data for the project. Although attuned to local context, including gendered expectations, multi-sited fieldwork offered little opportunity to develop strong and longitudinal relations with our interviewees. Significantly, interlocutors indicated to have been interviewed many times,⁵ contributing to a highly distrusting attitude towards research projects. Although the anonymity of interlocutors was ensured at all phases of the research, concerns about data collection and storage, and possible repercussions by security forces have been raised various times. All of this contributed to respondents' cautiousness in answering some questions during interviews.

At the meso-level, 19 interviews were conducted with 5 female and 14 male interlocutors aged 18 or higher. The Lebanon Support team used its extensive network of refugees, civil society actors (activists, lawyers, (I)NGO workers, academics, etc.), UN representatives, security actors, as well as local 'middle men' (broker, landlord, sponsor, etc)

³ This report draws on some insights developed by Elizabeth Saleh and Cybele Atmeh in an earlier draft of this report.

⁴ The semi-structured guides were developed within the frame of the RESPOND project, and have been used in 11 different countries.

⁵ The eruption of the Syrian crisis in 2011 contributed to a myriad of (academic or practitioner) researchers investigating migratory phenomena in Lebanon.

to understand border management processes, as well as who is affected by them. These interviews were conducted in both English and Arabic.

Lastly, a focus group with 9 (meso-level) multi-stakeholders was conducted on 26 November 2018, consisting of lawyers, local and international civil society actors, academics, and practitioners. Feedback has been incorporated into the analysis.

3. Developments: Lebanon's borderlands as dynamic spaces

Lebanon's geographical area consists of approximately 10,400 square kilometres, the majority of which consists of land (10,230 square kilometres), and a small claimed part territorial sea (World Atlas, 2017). To the west, Lebanon's coastline defines a maritime border on the Mediterranean Sea. By land, the Lebanese territory borders with Syria to the north and east (375 kilometre), and Israel to the south (79 kilometre). The issue of Lebanon's borders, which are undelimited and undemarcated until today, is considered 'unusually complex' (Tholens, 2017:872).

3.1 Colonial legacies

The geographical area of the modern Middle East can be tied back to the Sykes-Picot Agreement (May 1916),⁶ which for the first time divided former Ottoman areas, and established boundaries in order to suit the colonial needs of Great-Britain and France in ways that reverberate until today (Meier, 2013; Al Jazeera, 2016).

Border determination processes generally entail three steps (Kaufman, 2004): (i) 'Allocation' of land to a state, (ii) 'Delimitation' of borders in a written document, and (iii) 'Demarcation', by marking the borders on the ground. In Lebanon, only the first phase was completed.

In 1920, under the 'Franco-British Convention on Certain Points Connected with the Mandates for Syria and the Lebanon, Palestine and Mesopotamia', also known as the Franco British Boundary Agreements, Lebanon's preliminary borders were broadly defined, and were later amended by the 1923 Paulet–Newcombe Agreement. Although Lebanon's borders had been delineated on various maps under the French mandate, this delimitation is described by some scholars as a 'negligent French mapping project' (Kaufman, 2004). This, as some discrepancies the mappings' delimitations and practice in reality remained: areas that identified as Syrian became formally part of Lebanon⁷, whereas former Lebanese territories were classified as Syrian.⁸ Despite several attempts, formal border determination had not taken place when colonial powers withdrew from the area in the 1940s.

⁶ The Sykes-Picot Agreement was a secret convention between the United Kingdom and France, which concluded the partition of the Ottoman Empire's territories, and led to the division of present-day Iraq, Syria, Lebanon, and Palestine into French- and British-administered areas.

⁷ For example, during the 1925 Druze uprising, 'the French army decided to establish a military post in the tiny village of Tufayl in the Qalamoun area on the eastern side of the Anti-Lebanon mountain chain in Syria. [Although the area is formally part of Lebanon, the] residents speak Arabic with Syrian accents, use Syrian currency, their children go to Syrian schools and universities and they buy their goods from nearby Syrian towns and villages, but they vote in Lebanon's parliamentary elections.' (Blanford, 2016). ⁸ As was the case with the Sheb'aa farms. See Box 1.

After Lebanon's independence in 1943, the establishment of the state of Israel, and the 1948 Arab-Israeli War, the Armistice Line (also referred to as the 'Green Line'⁹) was set out in 1949 to redraw the borders and formally end hostilities between Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, Syria, and newly independent Israel (1949 Armistice Agreements). In the Lebanese context, the Armistice line corresponded to the 1923 Paulet-Newcombe line (United Nations Security Council, 1949). Despite these internationally recognised agreements, Lebanon's borders, whether by sea or land, until today, received little significance in the past, and remain highly disputed today.

As such, rather than hard borders referring to physical markings and rigid controls, literature rather refers to Lebanon's 'soft' borders (Tholens, 2017:865): *de facto* 'frontiers', symbolic 'boundaries', or fluid borderlands (Kaufman, 2013; Meier, 2013). These dynamic spaces of historic interaction were divided as a result of colonial interests – which did not necessarily take into account pre-existing social, religious, ethnic, or primordial links. Furthermore, Lebanon's border areas should be analysed against the construction of the states of Lebanon, Syria, and Israel, all of which, motivated by 'contrasting goals [...], interpreted the border according to its own needs' (Ram, 2014:2).¹⁰ In the Lebanese case, governance in these areas has historically been characterised in a context of marginalisation and minimal state presence (Mouawad, 2018:2).

3.2 The Blue Line: window-dressing at the Lebanese southern border

Lebanon's southern border 'at times functioned as a "hard", impregnable border, and at times as a porous frontier subject to settlement, exchange, expansion and cross-border raids' (Kaufman, 2013:75).

Until 1949, Lebanon's southern border areas, divided by the Paulet-Newcombe Agreement, have been described as vibrant areas of continuous interaction and exchange between Lebanon and Palestine based on kinship, economic, or social purposes (Kaufman, 2013; Meier, 2013; Tholens, 2017). However, in 1936, the area became a stronghold for the Palestinian Intifada. The Armistice Line Agreements, signed by both Lebanon and Israel, abruptly led to border closures, affecting individuals in the border areas to a large extent, and uprooting Palestinians who had fled from their homeland (Soueid, 2000; cited in Meier, 2013:360).

Notably in the light of the 1948 Arab-Israeli War, the borders were firmly characterised as a frontline against Israel. Despite several disputes,¹¹ this relatively stable situation shifted dramatically after the 1967 Six Day War, and Israel's seizure of the Golan Heights in 1967 (see Box 1), bringing together a large variety of actors with opposing motivations – notably the Palestinian Liberation Organisation (PLO), the Lebanese Armed Forces, the Israeli army, and the Lebanese Hezbollah (see Section 5.2).

⁹ Not to be confused with the Green Line that divided predominantly Muslim areas in West Beirut from mainly Christian areas in East Beirut during the Lebanese Civil War (1975-1990).

¹⁰ For example, whereas Israel considered the border region as a frontier, the demarcation of which was necessary for the creation of the state, Lebanon regarded its southern border as peripheral, geographically isolated areas a great distance from its capital Beirut (Kaufman, 2013; Ram, 2014).

¹¹ Disputes revolved, for example, around territories and settlements, access to water resources, cultivating plants and livestock, and the construction of new roads (Kaufman, 2013).

Following the Israeli invasion in response to PLO resistance operations led from Lebanon's southern border areas, UN Resolution 425 was adopted on 15 March 1978. It called upon Israel to cease its military action and withdraw its forces from Lebanon. Additionally, the resolution facilitated the establishment of UNIFIL (see Section 5.3). Although initially, Israel withdrew its forces after Resolution 425 was passed, the Israeli occupation was expanded during the 1982 Lebanon War. Following various attacks, in May 2000 – more than 22 years after passing Resolution 425 – Israeli troops withdrew from Lebanon's southern areas.

However, formal confirmation of the Israeli withdrawal from Lebanon, in compliance with Resolution 425, is obstructed by the absence of formally demarcated borders. Towards this end, following UN mediations that only succeeded in 2000, the 'Blue Line' was established – referring to the civilian line marked by blue UN barrels (UNIFIL, 2018). As explicitly mentioned, the Blue Line – which differs slightly from the 1949 Armistice Line or 1923 Paulet-Newcombe Line – did not seek to establish an international border (Meier 2013:361), but is rather a coordination mechanism.

However, in reality, the Blue Line *de facto* demarcates the southern 79 kilometre long border with Israel (Tholens, 2017:872). It is praised by some as 'the best available option to alleviate some of the tension in the region' (Kaufman, 2013:220), while others consider it 'reordering and monopolizing a piece of Lebanese sovereignty' (Meier, 2015) with minor attention to the supposed location of international boundaries. Importantly, it leaves several issues unresolved. This includes the Sheb'aa farms (see Box 1) a small area located in the Israeli-occupied Syrian Golan Heights, that falls within Lebanon's international borders, but outside the Blue Line.

Box 1: The Sheb'aa Farms Dispute

The Sheb'aa farms is a roughly 27-square-kilometer strip of land in Lebanon's southern border with Syria. During the French Mandate, although never formally demarcated on the ground, French maps located the Sheb'aa farms within Syrian territory. In reality, however, 'the residents of the area continued to consider themselves part of Lebanon. They paid taxes to Lebanon and conducted all their legal and administrative affairs in [Lebanon] rather than in [Syria]' (Kaufman, 2004).¹² Although such border anomalies were not uncommon throughout the Syrian-Lebanese boundary, notably in the light of Syria's unwillingness to discuss border demarcations confirming Lebanon's independence, the Sheb'aa farms initially received little attention by the Lebanese authorities (*ibid*.).¹³

During the Six Day War (1967), Israel occupied the Golan Heights, and despite objections

¹² Although this discrepancy was reported to the High Commission in Beirut and amendments were suggested to correspond better with local practice, 'nothing was done to resolve the matter, neither by France, nor by the Syrian or Lebanese governments' (Kaufman, 2004).

¹³ First of all, peripheral areas, especially in South-East Lebanon, were characterised as neglected areas. Furthermore – as Lebanon's 15-year Civil War erupted in 1975, soon to be followed in 1976 by 30 years of Syrian occupation, and Lebanon's southern border would become a base for Palestinian guerilla organisations as of 1986 – 'petty issues' such as the Sheb'aa farms were not prioritised by the Lebanese authorities (Kaufman, 2004).

by the international community,¹⁴ it extended its law to the Golan Heights in 1981 - a measure considered tantamount to annexation of the area.

Although on several occasions, Lebanon and Syria had the opportunity to (dis)claim sovereignty over the Sheb'aa farms, it was only on May 4th, 2000, that an official Lebanese claim for sovereignty over the territories has been made (Kaufman, 2014) - which was supported by Syria.¹⁵ However, although Israeli forces left the Lebanese territories in 2000, they did not evacuate the Sheb'aa farms, claiming it as part of the Syrian Golan Heights. The Israeli claim was supported by the UN, that concluded that withdrawal from the Lebanese territories had indeed been completed (Kaufman, 2004).

Further complicating the issue of Lebanon's southern border, are recently discovered gas and oil resources in the Levant Basin of the Eastern Mediterranean (bordering Syria, Lebanon, Israel, Gaza, and Egypt) and adjacent offshore waters. Although Lebanon has ratified the 1982 UN Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS), an instrument in codifying laws pertaining to maritime sovereignty and cooperation which is generally adhered to by means of customary international law, Israel is not a party. As such, 855 square kilometres of waters are claimed by both Lebanon and Israel.

In sum, until today, in the absence of any agreement between Lebanon and Israel formally outlining the Lebanese-Israeli border, Lebanon's southern border is considered impenetrable, and passing it directly from the Lebanese territories, either by land, sea, or air, is virtually impossible (see Section 4.1).¹⁶

3.3 Intertwined histories and the 'porosity' of the Lebanese-Syrian border

In contrast, Lebanon's 375 kilometre border with Syria – an 'artificial colonial creation of the 1920s' (Chalcraft, 2009:20) – has never been fully demarcated on the ground either, and is characterised by its historically fluid borderlands (Picard, 2006; Kaufman, 2013).

Consisting of large areas of 'green border' (mountain border, flat border, and river border) the Lebanese-Syrian border has always been challenging to control, and was subject to discussion many times during the 1960s (Kaufman, 2013). Although a border committee consisting of Lebanese and Syrian actors was formed to settle territorial disputes, notably the Sheb'aa farms, their recommendations have not been taken into consideration by either government, nor taken to the United Nations.

¹⁴ The question of the Golan Heights has received recent media attention, after President Trump of the United States of America has signed a proclamation formally recognising Israeli sovereignty over the Golan Heights in March 2019. In this vein, the American Ministry of Foreign Affairs has replaced the word 'occupied' with 'under control' in reports on the Golan Heights (NOS, 2019).

¹⁵ However, as Kaufman argues, 'Israel views this dispute as a Hezbollah fabrication, invented to continue its armed struggle against Israel' (2004).

¹⁶ The discovery of several tunnels on the Lebanese-Israeli border have increased tensions on the border. Israeli authorities claim the tunnels were dug by Lebanese Hezbollah (al Jazeera, February 2019). UNIFIL corroborated the existence of some tunnels reaching Israeli territory, adding that they constitute violations of Security Council resolution 1701 (BBC, 2018).

Further complicating the demarcation of the Lebanese-Syrian border are the advocates of Greater Syria, who regard Syria and Lebanon as one country, and 'never accepted the notion of an independent Lebanon' (Ram, 2014:2). In line with this ideology, diplomatic relations and demarcations were never established, as these would implicitly acknowledge Lebanon's independence. Furthermore, Syrian forces 'constantly encroached onto the territory, exploiting the ill-defined demarcation of the border between the two states' (*ibid.*). Notably during the Civil War (1975-1990), Lebanon's territories were occupied by Syrian troops. Although initially invited as a 'peace-keeping' force, the Syrian military remained present until 2005 – long after the end of the conflict was formally concluded with the 1989 Ta'ef Accord.

Following Israeli invasion during the Lebanese Civil War, the Lebanese-Syrian border received little attention by the Lebanese authorities, until Israeli withdrawal in 2000 (Kaufman 2014:61). In May 2000, U.N. Secretary General Kofi Annan concluded that an 'official record of a formal international boundary agreement between Lebanon and the Syrian Arab Republic' appeared to be lacking (Now News, 2009).

Until today, Lebanon's border areas have been considered marginalised in relation to areas closer to the capital Beirut. They are characterised by state absence, a lack of 'development projects, [...] political representation, and geographical distance from the political and economic centre' (Mouawad, 2018). As such, the Lebanese border areas have become largely dependent on Syria for 'border trade' (Hutson and Long, 2011) or smuggling (Mouawad, 2018) and, in reality, fell under Syrian control (Mouawad, 2018:5). Adding to this complexity is the fact that central authorities have never fully exercised control over the border areas (Tholens, 2017:872), nor over Hezbollah's intervention in Syria. Consequently, 'a porous Syrian-Lebanese space has re-emerged through the military control of Hezbollah on the two sides of the borders' (Mouawad, 2018:2).¹⁷

3.4 Developments since 2011: militarised borders and restrictive immigration policies

The eruption of the Syrian conflict in 2011 spurred large numbers of Syrians to seek refuge in neighbouring Lebanon; over 1.1 million Syrians were registered as 'displaced persons' at the UNHCR as of October 2014 (UNHCR, 2019). Still, it should be noted that the number of Syrians in reality is estimated to be around 1.5 or even 2 million (Lebanon Support, 2018a), as many Syrians have intentionally not registered at the UNHCR; as a mobility strategy, out of fear of discovery by the Syrian authorities, or out of mistrust, for example. Additionally, the Lebanese-Syrian border areas have historically experienced large numbers of unregistered circular labor migration (Chalcraft, 2009:2) resulting in the open border policy between the two countries. A taxi company manager gives a rough illustration of this context: 'The first thing you need to know about the borders in Lebanon, is that half of the refugees in Lebanon are registered by the UNHCR and the other half isn't' (Interview, Beirut, 23 November 2018). This large influx of people after 2011 added strain to Lebanon's economy and infrastructure, which was facing challenges long before.

At the same time, between 2011 and 2013, cross-border mobility from Lebanon into Syria could be witnessed, whether through fighters or firearms, in support of either the Syrian

¹⁷ For more information about Hezbollah's role in Lebanon, see Section 5.2.

regime or the opposition (Mouawad, 2018:7). Moreover, since the eruption of the Syrian conflict in 2011, Lebanon has experienced several armed confrontations from Syria-based groups. Eastern border towns Arsal and Ras Baalbek had become enclaves for armed groups (ISIS, Jabhat al-Nusra), which only ended in 2017 (Lebanon Support, 2014). As such, combined with the porous character of the borders, these borderlands have been described as a 'safe haven' for extremist groups (Humud, 2018:9). Despite significant threats, this did not halt Syrians from (informally) seeking refuge in Lebanon.¹⁸ All of the above has lead to gradual militarisation of the borders, spurring increased support from international actors which seek to 'reinforce' the Lebanese authorities with the tools necessary to defend Lebanon's borders, as well as with humanitarian and development initiatives.

In October 2014, the Council of Ministers adopted a series of restrictive residency policies, published under the name 'Reducing the numbers', in order to halt the influx of Syrians to Lebanon at the border, to encourage returns for Syrians already residing in Lebanon, and to formalise, monitor, and control the presence of those who stayed (Lebanon Support 2016a; Janmyr 2016). In order to implement this policy, the General Directorate of General Security (GSO) enforced new immigration controls at the Syrian border, which effectively made it impossible for Syrian refugees to obtain or renew a legal status (See Section 4.1).

4. Legal Framework: between '*laisser-faire*' legislations and *ad hoc* policies

Lebanon has not ratified the 1951 United Nations Convention relating to the Status of Refugees, nor its 1967 Protocol; as such, an official 'refugee' status is lacking. Still, by its preamble in the Constitution, Lebanon is bound by the 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR) to provide access to territories and basic temporary protection for asylum seekers wishing to enter Lebanese territories (Lebanon Support, 2018a). Furthermore, by means of customary international law, by peremptory norms under international law (ALEF, 2013), and in compliance with international treaties to which it is a party,¹⁹ Lebanon is committed to respect the principle of *non-refoulement*, prohibiting the forcible return of those whose life, or freedoms, would be under threat.

Domestic migration legislation in Lebanon consists of various provisions from the Lebanese constitution, international treaties, immigration and nationality legislation, and a variety of policies and decrees. Although a Memorandum of Understanding (2003) between the General Security and the UNHCR provides asylum-seekers and refugees with the right to

¹⁸ Still, it should be noted that instability in these areas cannot strictly be attributed to the Syrian conflict's consequences (Salloukh, 2017; cited in Mouawad, 2018:7). Rather, these areas formed the battleground of a complex conflict, and included a variety Lebanese and Syrian actors (Mouawad, 2018:7).

¹⁹ This includes Article 3 of the United Nations Convention Against Torture and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (Frontiers-Ruwad, 2013). For an overview of Human Rights treaties signed and ratified by Lebanon, see Lebanon Support, 2018a:37.

temporarily remain in Lebanon,²⁰ the most important law governing foreign presence is the 1962 Law Regulating the Entry, Stay, and Exit of Foreigners (see Section 4.1; Lebanon Support, 2018a:20).

Although provisions from the 1962 Law Regulating the Entry, Stay, and Exit of Foreigners in Lebanon and their Exit from the Country (Lebanon Migration Law, 1962) constitute a moderate legal framework for political asylum in Lebanon, in reality, it is non-functioning. Moreover, it includes little details on procedural steps; details on 'application procedure (length, steps, interviews, questionnaires, fingerprints, photos, health checks), different actors and their respective responsibilities, or procedures and timeframes following rejection of the asylum application' (Lebanon Support, 2018a:20) are lacking. Furthermore, the law solely applies to those seeking refuge on political grounds (Article 26). A lawyer specialised in migration governance emphasises the need for amendments to the law: 'Can you imagine how much the world has changed since [1962]? How much the region has changed, how much borders have changed, how much movement around the world has changed?' (Interview, Beirut, 9 September 2018) Lastly, a data protection law in Lebanon currently has not been created or enforced.

Lebanon's refugee policy, at least until the influx of Syrian refugees reached its peak with 1.2 million registered Syrians in 2014 (UNHCR, 2019), initially was described as 'a policy of no policy' (El Mufti, 2014). It was characterised by a passive attitude towards the mass influx of Syrian refugees into the country, and minor importance was given to its political, economic, and social effects (Saghieh & Frangieh, 2014). The lack of strategic decision-making should be viewed in a context of political instability in Lebanon which existed prior to the eruption of refugee crises, various (inter)national conflicts and tensions, and long periods of political deadlock without a head of state or an operational government. The development of a coherent framework for migration legislation is further hindered by a lack of updated data on migration,²¹ limited political will for structural reforms, and limited coordination between authorities relevant to migration governance. Furthermore, immediate challenges such as threats of terrorism spillovers, severe economic constraints, limited access to water, constrained electricity, and an unresolved waste management crisis, are rendering the development of coherent migration legislation more difficult. In reality, as stipulated in the 1962 Law Regulating the Entry, Stay, and Exit of Foreigners, migration governance largely falls under the discretionary power of security apparatus; the General Security in Lebanon being the main actor governing the entry, residency, and exit of foreigners in Lebanon (Lebanon Support, 2018a).

However, in 2014, after long periods of '*laisser-faire*' policies, some provisions on migration governance have been formulated as *ad hoc* responses to the mass influx of Syrian refugees in Lebanon (Lebanon Support 2018).

4.1 Pre-entry measures: established laws and new constraints

The 1962 Law on Entry, Stay, and Exit is the main legal provision governing the access, presence, and exit of foreigners in Lebanon. The law contains two articles regarding access

²⁰ For more information on challenges related to the Memorandum of Understanding, see Lebanon Support 2018a:22.

²¹ In Lebanon, data on asylum and migration are lacking, or inconclusive. See 'The power of data: scarcity of figures safeguarding a delicate sectarian balance' (Lebanon Support 2018a:13)

to Lebanese territories. First, Article 6 stipulates that non-Lebanese wishing to enter Lebanon can only do so through one of the legal posts of the General Security. It also obliges foreigners wishing to seek paid employment in Lebanon to obtain a permit from the Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs. 'Artists' wishing to work in Lebanon must obtain a permit from the General Security (Article 6).²²

Furthermore, foreigners must provide valid documentation (this entails a passport valid for 6 months beyond the period of intended stay and with two blank pages), as well as a (transit) visa.²³ Article 7 stipulates that tourist visas for nationals of certain countries may be issued for a maximum of 3 months.

Lebanese visas can be obtained by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and its consulates abroad, at the airport, or at border crossing points by the General Security (Article 6, Law Entry, Stay, and Exit 1962). As such, the law attributes the General Security with the legislative capacity to establish legislation on short-term and long-term visas and residence cards. In principle, the General Security applies a 'white list' of countries that do not require a visa, consisting of 7 Arab countries.²⁴ In addition, 79 countries (General Security, n.d.) can obtain a cost-free visa of 1 month, extendable to 3 months on arrival,²⁵ although additional documentation may be required.²⁶ All other countries are on the 'black-list', meaning foreigners from these countries wishing to enter Lebanon must obtain prior authorisation to enter Lebanon.²⁷ In order to obtain a visa, one must provide a telephone number, an address in Lebanon, and a return ticket.

²² Article 13 of the 1962 Law on Entry, Stay, and Exit defines 'anyone who works in night clubs where alcoholic drinks are retailed, or where variety shows are given to the accompaniment of music, whether food is service[d] or not' as an artist.

²³ Exempted from the list are persona non-grata, those who are not able to provide documentation, and those wishing to pursue employment in Lebanon (including artists), and holders of transit passports.

²⁴ This applies to members of the Gulf Cooperation Council (Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates) and the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan (General Security, n.d.).
²⁵ This applies to immigrants from Andorra, Antigua and Barduda, Argentina, Armenia, Australia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bahamas, Barbados, Belarus, Belgium, Belize, Bhutan, Brazil, Bulgaria, Canada, Chile, People's Republic of China, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Dominican Republic, Estonia, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Hong Kong, SAR of China, Hungary, Iceland, Iran, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Kazakstan, Kirgizstan, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Macau (SAR), Macedonia, Malaysia, Malta, Mexico, Moldova, Monaco, Montenegro, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Russia, Samoa, San Marino, Serbia, Singapore, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Korea, Spain, St. Kitts & Nevis, Sweden, Switzerland, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, United Kingdom, United States of America, Uzbekistan, and Venezuela (General Security, n.d.).

²⁶ This applies to immigrants from Algeria, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Bulgaria, the People's Republic of China, Comoros Island, Croatia, Czech Republic, Djibouti, Egypt, Estonia, Georgia, Ghana, Hong Kong, Hungary, Iraq, Ivory Coast, Jordan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Latvia, Libya, Lithuania, Macau (SAR), Macedonia, Mauretania, Moldova, Montenegro, Morocco, Nigeria, Poland, Romania, Russia, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, Somalia, Sudan, Tajikistan, Tunisia, Turkmenistan, Ukraine, Uzbekistan, and Yemen (General Security, n.d.).

²⁷ This notably applies to immigrants from Angola, Bangladesh, Benin Republic, Bosnia, Botswana, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cameroon, Central Africa Republic, Chad, Chinese Taipei (TW), Comers Island, Republic of Congo (Brazzaville), Democratic Republic of Congo (Zaire), Djibouti, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Fiji, Gabon, Gambia, Guinea Bissau, Honduras, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Liberia, Malawi, Mali, Mauritania, Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia, Nicaragua, Niger, North Korea, Pakistan, Palau Islands, Philippines, Rwanda, Salvador, Seychelles Islands, Sierra Leone, Somalia, South Africa, Sri Lanka, St. Lucia, St. Vincent & Grenadines, Suriname, Tanzania, Thailand, Togo, Trinidad & Tobago, Uganda, Vietnam, Zambia, and Zimbabwe (General Security, n.d.).

Decree No. 10188 (1962) by the Council of Ministers consists of 28 provisions laying down the conditions for entering, staying or exiting Lebanese territories. It includes transit and stay taxes, and regulations for visas and residence cards, amongst others. Decision No. 320 stipulates the conditions for entering and exiting the Lebanese border posts for foreigners and Lebanese individuals. Specific provisions apply to Palestinians and Syrians wishing to enter or exit Lebanon to neighbouring countries. Decision No. 1 (1970) amended Article 7 of Decision No. 320, and allowed Palestinian refugees in Lebanon to go to Syria with *laisserpasser* passports, without requiring a special permission.

Article 21 (Decree No. 10188 Regarding the implementation of Law No. 0 for 1962) allows, under certain conditions, for 'courtesy residence permits' for the following categories: (i) the children of a Lebanese mother – as the Lebanese nationality is passed only through paternal lines – (ii) the foreign wife of a Lebanese national, (iii) non-Lebanese born in Lebanon, (iv) those of Lebanese descent holding another nationality, and (v) retired diplomats wishing to continue to reside in Lebanon. Decree No. 4186 (2010) grants foreign husbands and children of Lebanese women from a foreign husband the right to have a three-year courtesy residence permit (*iqamet mojamala*) under certain conditions. Lastly, Article 28 allows the Minister of Interior to exempt individuals from using their passports. This was mainly used for foreigners (including Palestinians) wishing to travel between Lebanon and Syria, people in transit wishing to visit Lebanon, tourists, students, athletes, naval (air) staff, *et cetera*.

Closing the doors: the Lebanese-Syrian border

During the 1990s, an open border policy was rationalised between Syria and Lebanon through three bilateral treaties, which until today formally ensure the free movement of goods and people (ii) the right to work and (iii) reciprocal treatment of individuals, as well as the rights and obligations of hosting states Lebanon and Syria (CLDH, 2013; Syrian Lebanese Higher Council, 1991c). In addition, the 1992 Treaty of Brotherhood, Cooperation and Coordination and the 1993 Agreement for Economic and Social Cooperation and Coordination was adopted to administer Lebanese-Syrian relations. Consequently, Syrians, until 2015, could relatively easily enter Lebanon. Those who legally entered Lebanon with a valid passport or identification card received an entry coupon and entry stamp at the border, granting them free-of-charge residency for a period of six months, renewable for another six months. As such, for decades, Lebanon and Syria, two countries with distinctive colonial legacies and contrasting political and economic models, for years maintained open borders that allowed for the flow of cheap 'cash-in-hand' labour from Syria into Lebanon (Chalcraft, 2009).

However, this situation radically shifted following policies adopted by the Council of Ministers in October 2014, and implemented as of January 2015, when the General Directorate of General Security introduced a special entry procedure for Syrian citizens, through a set of categories to legally enter and reside in Lebanon. These included short-term visas (for purposes of tourism, business, shopping, property owners or tenants, study, transits, medical treatment, and appointments with embassies (Lebanon Support, 2016a; 2018a), and long-term residencies (for humanitarian exceptions and migrant workers). The implementation of the 2014 policies also entailed significant costs for Syrian refugees, which include an annual 200 USD renewal fee, municipality costs, and fees for the notary public (Lebanon Support 2016a).

Importantly, although the 'humanitarian' category may seem to qualify for Syrian 'displaced' persons, such a category, in reality, has been lacking: humanitarian exceptions are

considered 'unaccompanied and/or separated children with a parent already registered in Lebanon, persons living with disabilities with a relative already registered in Lebanon, persons with urgent medical needs for whom treatment in Syria is unavailable, and persons who will be resettled in third countries' (Amnesty International, 2015:11; Lebanon Support 2016a). Registered Syrians are considered 'displaced people', whereas they would be characterised as 'refugees' in other countries.²⁸ However, in May 2015, the Lebanese government has requested the UNHCR to suspend the registration of Syrian refugees as 'displaced people' – a decision that is still in place until today (Lebanon Support, 2016d:7).²⁹ Importantly, those registered or recorded with the UNHCR are prohibited access to the Lebanese labour market through a notarised 'pledge to not work', even though offered food and cash assistance has been described as insufficient to make a living (Lebanon Support 2016b).

The only viable option for Syrian nationals allowing for legal, long-term presence in Lebanon, in reality, is under the migrant worker category (Lebanon Support, 2016a). However, following the policies adopted in October 2014, Syrian migrant workers were required to sign a 'pledge of responsibility' by a Lebanese national, or employer, who is held accountable for the Syrian's legal acts. With this, a version of the highly contested *kafala* (sponsorship) system was extended to Syrians.³⁰ Second, Syrians desiring to enter the Lebanese labour market generally are constrained to work in three realms: construction, agriculture, and 'environment'. Importantly, those registered as migrant workers were required to deregister from UNHCR, which entails losing access to assistance provided by UNHCR and partner organisations (Lebanon Support, 2016b).

As such, the newly introduced categories clearly distinguished between Syrians registered with the UNHCR, and Syrian migrant workers. A State Council³¹ ruling in February 2018 annulled restrictive measures and fees targeting Syrians in Lebanon, noting that the Council of Ministers is the only competent body to amend entry and residency conditions for Syrians, whereas the General Security's task is limited to implementing these. As such, the State Council calls on the General Security to respect international agreements between Lebanon and Syria, and to guarantee freedom of movement, residence, and work between the two countries (Saghieh and Frangieh, 2018).

²⁸ The influx of forced migrants as of 2011 has given way to another kind of porosity between the two borders. When Lebanon officially announced its policy of disassociation in 2014, declaring its stance behind the rhetoric of neutrality *vis-à-vis* the Syrian conflict, the state was in effect continuing its guest approach towards refugees. In describing Syrians as displaced (*nazihoun*) rather than as refugees (*lajioun*) and claiming Lebanon as a site of 'transit' rather than refuge and integration, the policy limited the formal rights of Syrian forced migrants in the country (Lebanon Support 2016a; Janmyr 2016).

²⁹ As of then, Syrians have been 'recorded', rather than registered, as 'person of concern' (Lebanon Support, 2016d).

³⁰ The *kafala* system is not stipulated by law, but rather a combination of customary practices, as well as legal and administrative requirements, implemented by the General Security. Within this system, a worker's legal status is tied to a sponsor (*kafeel*), and can be withdrawn at any time. The *kafala* system, initially developed for migrant domestic workers, is applied by many Middle Eastern countries, although it remains highly contested by human rights defenders. Being referred to as 'modern' slavery, the system puts workers in a vulnerable situation, as sponsors generally exercise considerable control, directly affecting worker's legal status, mobility, and employment opportunities (Hamill, 2012).

With regards to Lebanon's southern border, given that a peace agreement with Israel is yet to be signed, Israeli nationals, as well as nationals holding a passport bearing Israeli stamps, seals, or visas are strictly prohibited from entering the country.³²

4.2. Border controls at land and sea

The 1962 Law of Entry, Stay, and Exit appoints the General Directorate of General Security as the main authority governing foreign presence in Lebanon. Additionally, in response to Israeli invasions in Lebanon, the permanent military force United Nations Interim Force in Lebanon (UNIFIL) was deployed at Lebanon's southern border in 1978 by the UN Security Council (Resolutions 425 and 426, 19 March 1978). In May 2000, 22 years after the adoption of Resolution 425, the Israeli Defense Forces withdrew from southern Lebanon. In order to confirm its withdrawal from Lebanese territories in compliance with Resolution 425, the UN secretary-general indicated the need for clearly marked lines, although, as explicitly mentioned, it did not seek to establish an international border (Meier 2013:361). This lead to the 'Blue Line' (see Section 3.2), which *de facto* defined the Lebanese-Israeli border.

After 33 days of war between Hezbollah and Israel, the UN Security Council passed Resolution 1701 on 11 August 2011. By this resolution, which calls upon the international community 'to support the territorial integrity, sovereignty and political independence of Lebanon within its internationally recognized border', UNIFIL's mandate, as well as security assistance, was reinforced to a great extent.³³ It is important to note, however, that Resolution 1701 is not binding.

Border surveillance at sea: a fractured and inadequate defence

Lebanon's maritime border of 225 km contains 12 ports and harbours: Batrun, al Mina, Tripoli, al Naqoura, Antelias, al Zahrani, Beirut, Jbeil, Jounieh, Chekka, Sidon, and Tyre (Mattar, n.d). Foreign boats can arrive and exit through three 'corridors': Port of Beirut, Port of Tripoli, and Port of Sidon.

The coastal areas are guarded by the Lebanese navy, a sub-department of the Lebanese Armed Forces. Although considered 'capable and well-trained' (Global Security, 2013), the Lebanese navy is characterised by its budgetary constraints and its limited capacity and equipment. A border expert explains: 'The navy has a number of ships, although they are limited for what they need to do, and they are aging, and maintenance is a bit of a problem. The other agencies – the ISF, the General Security, and Customs – they all have one or two small boats but [are lacking] training and maintenance – so it's rather ineffective'. As such, Lebanese Naval Forces' tasks largely 'mirror that of a coast guard, more than a traditional Navy' (Global Security, 2013).

³² Law 0 of June 6th, 1955 stipulates Israel as enemy country and specifies several boycott measures. In this context, nationals holding Israeli marks in their passport will be rejected from entering Lebanon, and may be subject to arrest, or even detention (Lebanese Ministry of Economy and Trade, n.d.).

³³ 'Including the deployment of thousands more UNIFIL and LAF troops in Southern Lebanon and an expanded variety of operations (UNIFIL, n.d.). These operations encompassed local security, enforcing a ban on all weaponry in the area and, also, humanitarian mine clearing. Monthly tripartite meetings take place between UNIFIL, the LAF and Israeli military to ensure communication and de-escalation of any tensions' (Lebanon Support, 2015).

During various conflicts and interventions, notably during the Civil War, Lebanese Naval bases have been seized or destroyed. Israeli airstrikes during the 2006 War destroyed all three radar stations. In 2018, a few smuggling operations to Cyprus have been reported, involving Syrians, but other nationalities, as well (Lebanon Support, 2018b).

Under UN Security Council Resolution 1701, UNIFIL's mission was expanded in 2006 with a Maritime Task Force charged with assisting the Lebanese Navy with periodical training exercises and daily cooperation. A border expert clarifies UNIFIL's role and authority: 'There is a lot of misunderstanding that the Maritime Task Force is actually the one doing the border management and the border control – but that isn't the case. They have limited powers and they just support the Lebanese. However, their presence is certainly a deterrent to some people.' The border expert concludes: 'The response is not very joined up, [...] What actually is lacking is some kind of strategic approach, so all the agencies can work together and maybe make best use of their sort of limited or rather disparate resources' (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019).

4.3. Internal Controls: double jeopardy for irregular migrants

In Lebanon, illegal entry or presence of foreigners is penalised; they are subjected to arrest, penalties, imprisonment, and deportation by the General Directorate of General Security (Chapter IX of the 1962 Law of Entry, Stay, and Exit; the Lebanese Constitution, the Lebanese Penal Code; and the Criminal Procedural Code). Foreigners who have committed criminal offences, or who are considered to pose a threat to public security (Article 17, Law of Entry, Stay, and Exit), can be 'detained and sentenced to expulsion (criminal proceedings), removal (magistrate proceedings), or have their further stay denied (administrative proceedings)' (Frontiers-Ruwad, 2006:16). A lawyer specialised in migration governance explains that refugees and migrants without legal status can be detained and deported through both criminal and administrative procedures:

The problem is that the same violation, namely irregular migration, is both a criminal act and an administrative immigration violation. So you could be detained and sentenced by the court as a criminal - and fined, detained, and deported by the administration, namely the General Security. And some people go through both procedures. I would call this 'double jeopardy' (Interview, Beirut, 18 April 2018).

After being charged with criminal violations related to their status, foreigners face three stages of imprisonment: pre-trial detention; criminal imprisonment upon conviction; and detention while awaiting removal from the country after the completion of sentences (Global Detention Project, 2018). In practice, however, foreigners are systematically kept in detention after completing their sentences. A lawyer specifies: 'Every criminal detention [will eventually lead to] administrative detention by the General Security. [...] Because after every criminal process, there is a review of the legal status by the General Security' (Interview, Beirut, 18 April 2018).

Under the Law of Entry, Stay, and Exit, the following immigration-related violations are criminal violations: 'irregular entry, use of forged identity papers and concealment of identity); remaining in the country following the rejection of a new residence permit and re-entry or exit

via unauthorised posts; continued stay in the country after the issuance of a deportation order on security grounds; irregular re-entry; and non-timely extension of a residence permit' (Global Detention Project, 2018; Frontiers-Ruwad, 2006).

Foreigners found guilty of carrying false identification or lacking proper authorization can be fined, sentenced to up to three years in prison, and served an expulsion order, as per Article 32 of the 1962 Law of Entry, Stay, and Exit (Global Detention Project, 2018). Those who attempt to (re-)enter or exit Lebanon by illegal means, or who remain in the country after being denied a residency permit, can be fined, and/or be charged for criminal imprisonment varying from one week to three months (Article 33). Article 34 stipulates that failure to comply with an expulsion order provides for one to six months imprisonment. Article 35 states that those who have committed a second offence, or who attempt to re-enter Lebanon after expulsion can face an imprisonment sentence of 3 months to 3 years. Foreigners late to apply for a residence permit extension can be fined, and/or sentenced to imprisonment for one week to two months (Article 36).

Although there is a legal basis for the administrative detention of foreigners, it is 'unclear and inadequate' (Global Detention Project, 2018), subjecting migrants and refugees to discretionary decisions by the General Security. The only provision providing for administrative detention of foreigners is Article 17 of the Law of Entry, Stay, and Exit (1962), which stipulates that foreigners posing a 'threat to public security' can be issued an expulsion order by the General Security. In reality, migrants in particular have been systematically reported to be confined in prolonged, and often unjustified, administrative detention for years, sometimes in spite of condemnations by the judiciary (Frontiers-Ruwad, 2010:X; Alef *et al.* 2017:7). This directly contradicts the Lebanese Penal Code, which stipulates that officials who have held an individual arbitrarily without a warrant or court decision can be imprisoned up to three years (Article 368). Under Article 367 of the Penal Code, any official who arrests or imprisons any person in cases other than those provided for by law can be sentenced to forced labour for life.

At the same time, by its Preamble in the Constitution, Lebanon is bound to respect UN covenants and human rights standards outlined in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) in 'all fields and areas without exception'. Thus, Lebanon is implicitly obliged to ensure that 'no one shall be subjected to arbitrary arrest, detention or exile' (Article 9, UDHR), and to safeguard the right to 'seek and to enjoy in other countries asylum from persecution' (Article 14, UDHR). Importantly, as stated by the UN Human Rights Committee, 'illegal entry itself, is not sufficient as a grounds for detention' (Frontiers-Ruwad, 2006:4).

Furthermore, Lebanon has ratified various international human rights treaties,³⁴ notably the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, as well as the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, which explicitly denounce arbitrary detention, *refoulement*, and outline various procedural safeguards (Frontiers-Ruwad, 2006:14).

International law has become an integral part of domestic legislation, and if sufficiently specific and concrete, it should be prioritised in cases of conflicting legislation (Frontiers-Ruwad, 2006:14). As such, international detention standards have become essential in determining the extent to which detention can be considered 'arbitrary'. Although occasionally used in Lebanese courts, legal experts in migration governance identify international treaties

³⁴ CERD (12 November 1971), ICCPR (3 November 1972), ICESCR (3 November 1972), CRC (14 May 1991), CEDAW (21 April 1997), and Convention Against Torture (5 October 2000).

as key tools in ensuring the Lebanese state's compliance with international human rights (Frontiers-Ruwad, 2006:15).

Lastly, trafficking is denounced in provisions in the Lebanese Constitution, the Lebanese Penal Code, and the 2000 UN Convention on Transnational Organized Crime. Furthermore, supplementing protocols prohibit trafficking, including the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children; the Protocol against the Smuggling of Migrants by Land, Sea and Air; and the Protocol against the Illicit Manufacturing of and Trafficking in Firearms, Their Parts and Components and Ammunition.

One of the most significant steps towards more coherent legislation on anti-trafficking legislation was the adoption of Anti-Trafficking Law No. 164 (2011), which prohibits and penalises all forms of trafficking. In addition, Lebanon has signed a number of bilateral agreements on irregular migration: the Lebanon-Bulgaria Cooperation Agreement (2001) on organized crime, as well as the Lebanon-Cyprus Cooperation Agreement (2002) on organized crime, both of which explicitly denounce irregular migration, human trafficking and forced crimes (MPC, 2013).

Internal controls and security measures: increased control following the Prime Minister's assassination

After the assassination of Prime Minister Rafiq Hariri in 2005, securitisation processes, which gradually appeared to diminish after the end of the Civil War in 1990, intensified again (Fawaz *et al.*, 2012). Perceived threats to political leaders and public buildings, the risk of riots, sectarian clashes, threats to high-end purpose buildings (such as malls, luxurious residential buildings, banks, and hotels), and threats by 'resistance security' actors, led to an increased but fragmented provision of security implemented by a variety of public and private actors with 'blurred' boundaries, which are often difficult to distinguish (Fawaz *et al.*, 2012:180; Lebanon Support, 2016c).

This has resulted in highly visible security mechanisms in Lebanon's daily scenery until today, affecting everyone in the country. They include, although they are not limited to, surveillance mechanisms (cameras, metal detectors, bag searches, car inspections, patrols, and 'observation' stations), mechanisms to control and constrain activities (blocking or narrowing streets in order to slow down traffic flow, profiling of vehicles and pedestrians), or mechanisms to eliminate activities (prohibitions on parking, on photography of buildings or people, blocked phone signals, blocked streets, no parking zones, etc.) (Fawaz *et al.*, 2012). Today, roadblocks, as well as 'armored vehicles and tanks, fortified walls, sand bags, barbed wire, metal barriers, concrete blocks' are considered part of Lebanon's (urban) landscape (Fawaz *et al.*, 2012:177).

Manned checkpoints – in most cases remaining from the Syrian occupation until 2005 – are widespread in Lebanon. Generally, they are placed at the entry of each governorate (*mohafaza*) or district (*caza*), although there are also checkpoints that change locations. Those wishing to pass are subjected to routine military inspections. Their placement throughout the country, notably at the entrance of Palestinian refugee camps outside Beirut, in combination with army raids, increases the risk of arrest and detention, notably of refugees and migrants without legal status.

As will be illustrated in Section 6.3, refugees and migrants find themselves constrained by growing surveillance and increased restrictions.

4.4. Return, detention, and readmission

Foreigners in violation of the 1962 Law on Entry, Stay, and Exit can be sentenced to 'Exit and Expulsion' (Chapter 9, 1962 Law on Entry, Stay, and Exit). Article 89 of the Criminal Code stipulates that individuals who have completed their sentence, should be released in order to leave the Lebanese territories by their 'own means within 15 days'. In reality, however, foreigners are reported to be kept incarcerated after having completed their sentences (Global Detention Project, 2018).

The 1962 Law on Entry, Stay, and Exit authorises the General Directorate of General Security to impose exit visas when 'considerations of the General Security so require' (Article 15) and to expel any alien who is considered a 'threat to public security' (Article 17). However, evidence or proof of what is perceived to be a 'threat' is not required (Global Detention Project, 2018). In addition, Article 17 stipulates that 'expulsion shall be carried out, either by notification of the person concerned [...] within the time-limit set by the Director of the General Security, or by escorting the unwanted person to the frontier' (1962 Law of Entry, Stay, and Exit). A UNHCR representative critically notes an explicitly established maximum time-limit to administrative detention is lacking: 'it's not specified if it should be 24 hours, if it should be one week, two weeks; there is no limit for this detention' (Interview, Beirut, 20 April 2018). Furthermore, although Article 17 requires the General Security to inform the Minister of Interior after each expulsion and to secure the approval of the public prosecutor, a representative of the UNHCR explains this 'is not necessarily taking place' (Interview, Beirut, 20 April 2018).

Lebanon has signed a number of readmission agreements with Romania (2002), Bulgaria (2002), Cyprus (2002), and Switzerland (2004). Furthermore, the EU-Lebanon Association Agreement (2006), entails provisions on the prevention, as well as control of illegal immigration – and stipulates all parties to readmit nationals illegally present on their respective territories (MPC 2013:4).

5. Border management in Lebanon - a hybrid security assemblage

Lebanon's border establishment processes entailed 'arbitrary division of social groups, and created fluid borderlands where tribal links and cross-border exchanges have rendered nonstate governance models resilient and durable' (Tholens, 2017:865). In this context, and backdropped by limited state presence, as well as a '*laiser-faire*' ideology, Lebanon's borders are managed by what can be described as a complex hybridisation between state and nonstate authoritative actors (Lebanon Support 2016c; Fregonese, 2012; Tholens, 2017). Hybridity, however, can also refer to the interplay between domestic and external governance and/or international assistance actors (Tholens, 2017:866). Such hybrid approaches, which at times tend to reproduce each other's practices, but moreover, seem to co-constitute each other (Fregonese, 2012), differ greatly from western state models. As such, they create nuanced concepts of sovereignty, territoriality, and domestic legitimacy (Tholens, 2017:866; Meier, 2017). Moreover, hybrid approaches correct conceptions of the Lebanese state – which operates on all social, economic, and security levels and is nonetheless characterised as a 'weak' state (Lebanon Support 2016c).

Not only do actors working in border management vary in capacity and authority, they continuously 'adopt, negotiate, and reproduce' security concepts and mechanisms to preserve social order, and to pursue (geo)political aims (Lebanon Support 2016c). At the same time, it should be noted that, while this broad variety of actors may suggest common interests, they also entail exclusionary mechanisms which significantly impact the presence of refugees and migrants in the country.

5.1. Formal security actors in Lebanon

The eruption of the Syrian crisis in 2011, the consequential mass influx of Syrian refugees into Lebanon, as well as local and regional conflicts, backdropped by global discourses of terrorism, have added strain to Lebanon's borders. This contributed to the militarisation of Lebanon's borders, implemented by a range of security actors, which can be formal or informal; governmental, private, or community-based; commercial or 'volunteer' based – or a hybrid mix. Importantly, rather than tacitly accepting informal practices, formal state security institutions partially rely on them (Lebanon Support 2016c).

It should be noted that state institutions in Lebanon are divided along a power-sharing structure that ensures equal representation of the largest sects in the country, as set out in the 1989 Ta'ef Peace Accord. With regards to border management, Lebanon's formal security systems mainly consist of the General Directorate of General Security (GSO), Internal Security Forces (ISF), and the Lebanese Armed Forces (LAF) (See Box 2).

Box 2: Lebanese State Actors in Border Management

The **General Directorate of General Security**, under the Ministry of Interior, is the main implementing security and intelligence actor concerned with the legal entry, residence, and exit of foreigners in Lebanon through official border crossing points (by air, land, and sea). As one of the main actors present at the border, it grants visas and residence permits and monitors violations of migration legislation. It has large discretionary authority to take punitive actions in their 'fight against anything that can jeopardize security' (General Security, webpage), such as arrest, detention, or deportation (Lebanon Support, 2018). The other actor present at the border crossing points is the **Lebanese Customs Administration**, nested within the Ministry of Finance. It consists of the **Customs Brigade**, attributed to control customs by all borders (territorial, maritime, and air space), as well as the **Customs Office**, which is, amongst others, responsible for clearing goods (luggage, cargo, mail) and people crossing the Lebanese borders (ICMPD, n.d.).

As per Decree no. 102 of 1983, the **Lebanese Armed Forces (LAF)** falls under the Ministry of Defense and consists, amongst others, Land Border Regiments and Navy Regiments,³⁵ It is responsible for surveilling and controlling all border areas between border control posts

³⁵ However, it is important to note that the observer regiments do not have a defensive traditional military capability (Border Expert, Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019): its main task is the fight against terrorism.

(Lebanese Army, n.d.). Lastly, the LAF chairs the **Border Control Committee** (ICMPD, n.d.).

In terms of border and migration governance, the **Internal Security Forces (ISF)** – Lebanon's national police force, nested within the Ministry of Interior – does not have any border capability, but their presence in the vicinity contributes to border surveillance and countering crime, notably trafficking people and goods (Border Expert, Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019; Tholens, 2017:878). Its main task is enforcing the law on foreigners in Lebanon by taking protective, but also preventive measures. In addition, it takes the lead in criminal investigation and prosecution of cross border offences (ICMPD, n.d.).

Lastly, the **Civil Defense** is a 'public emergency, medical and rescue service that carries out patient transportation, search and rescue activities, fire-fighting response, etc.' (ICMPD, n.d.). Its role is described as 'vital' to ensure safety at the borders, in collaboration with security agencies and health care services, such as the **Red Cross**.

Notably in the light of the Syrian refugee crisis, the General Security and the Lebanese Armed Forces have enhanced their roles in border management in Lebanon. Security apparatus General Security is the main actor overseeing people crossing Lebanon's borders. Its internal organisation has a clear structure. However, although explicit links between Shi'ite Hezbollah are not explicit, the two entities are considered affiliated (Tholens 2017:878). The LAF, on the other hand, 'have historically been loosely structured, poorly equipped and politically divided, and in some parts of the country, notably in Hezbollah-controlled areas as well as along the Syrian border, are considered to amount to nothing more than an expeditionary force in their own country' (Tholens, 2017:871). Despite this, as will be argued in the next sections, security assistance significantly increased the LAF's role in securing the border.

However, the presence of formal state actors in border areas remains a point of concern. For example, the ISF is not present in all border areas (Mouawad, 2018:8). The LAF, in turn, only returned to border areas Arsal and Chebaa as of 2014. Nowadays, despite their presence – which is at times more visible than others – 'control is not complete and these areas remain 'grey zones" (Mouawad, 2018:8). At the southern border, the LAF remains absent until today, arguing that 'as long as there is no comprehensive peace with Israel, 'the Lebanese army will not act as a border guard for Israel and would not be deployed to the border" (Meier, 2013:363). State absence in some border areas renders its full sovereignty, as encouraged under UN Resolution 1701, more difficult, leaving space for the emergence of non-state actors.

5.2 Complementing non-state security mechanisms

Non-state self-protection mechanisms complementing formal security regimes (*amn dhati*) are historically widespread throughout the country (Lebanon Support, 2016c). Moreover, notably in the context of refugee crises, such mechanisms seem to be on the rise, leading to a 'surveillance assemblage' (Crawford, 2005), referring to the interplay, interdependence, and competition between security actors – all operating in a complex mode of action (Lebanon Support, 2016c).

The south of Lebanon is generally associated with militia strongholds. First, after being expelled from Jordan in 1970, the PLO used Lebanon as a base until it relocated to Tunisia in 1982. Furthermore, after the eruption of the Lebanese Civil War (1975), with Israeli support, the border came under the control of the South Lebanese Army (SLA), consisting of mainly Christian militiamen. As such, Lebanon's southern border areas turned into a battleground between Palestinian and Israeli (proxy) actors.

In the early years of the Lebanese Civil War (1975-1990), Hezbollah emerged with Iranian support, portraying themselves as 'leaders of [armed] resistance to foreign military occupation' (Humud, 2018:13), notably targeting Israeli occupation of southern Lebanon. Although the Civil War was concluded in 1989, the Ta'ef Peace Agreement left room for militias as a cornerstone of state apparatuses in Lebanon. Although the Agreement stipulated 'disbanding of all Lebanese and non-Lebanese militias,' Hezbollah at the time was permitted to maintain their arsenal, notably under influence from Syria (occupying Lebanon between 1976-2005).

Hezbollah has been part of the Lebanese government since 1992,³⁶ while at the same time considered a terrorist organisation by international actors.³⁷ Until now, in collaboration with the Lebanese Armed Forces, Hezbollah engages in 'on-off low-intensity confrontations with the Israel Defense Forces (IDF)' (Tholens, 2017:872), which continue to violate Lebanese sovereignty with daily air, maritime and territorial violations (Lebanon Support, 2018b). Today, 'Iranian support for Hezbollah over three decades has created a robust, cohesive and resilient politico-military force, widely considered the strongest in the country' (Tholens, 2017:871; Norton, 2009). In this vein, Hezbollah's armed militia is sometimes depicted as 'more effective than the Lebanese Armed Forces' (Humud, 2018:i). Moreover, along the Syrian border, the Lebanese Armed Forces and Hezbollah have been reported to play a key role in countering infiltration from Syria-based extremist groups, such as the Islamic State and the al-Nusra front (for example Ha'ia Tahrir al Sham), notably in Ras Baalbek and Arsal.

At the same time, it should be noted that Hezbollah's political and military control along the Lebanese borders, as well as its involvement in Syria, have contributed to its hegemony in a trans-border zone (Mouawad, 2018:10). Its presence on both sides of the border provided Hezbollah with 'leverage to broker local deals that prevent sectarian clashes and secure the party's constituencies in Lebanon', and adds to the porosity of Lebanon's borders (Mouawad, 2018:10).

³⁶ Hezbollah became a political party and participated in parliamentary elections in 1992, winning 12 seats for its 'Loyalty to the Resistance' bloc (Hezbollah, n.d.). It currently holds 14 seats (Ministry of the Interior, 2018).

³⁷ For example, Hezbollah is listed by the United States as Specially Designated Terrorist in 1995, a Foreign Terrorist Organization in 1997, and a Specially Designated Global Terrorist in 2001 (Humud, 2018:30). Furthermore, in March 2016, the Gulf Co-operation Council (GCC) and the Arab League (consisting of predominantly Sunni Muslim countries) have declared Shi'ite Hezbollah a terrorist organisation. The European Union, however, clearly distinguishes Hezbollah's military wing, which is listed as a terrorist organisation since 22 July 2013, from the political party, with which the EU maintains relations until today. At the time of writing this report, Hezbollah has not been listed as a terrorist organisation by the United Nations Security Council, although this is urged by notably Israel since the discovery of four tunnels under the Lebanese Syrian border (BBC, 2018).

5.3 Supranational actors

Lebanon has long been subjected to broader geopolitical influences. It is in light of an international struggle for power by various proxy actors that border management, as well as security assistance must be analysed (Tholens, 2017).

Following Prime Minister Rafiq Hariri's assassination in 2005, Lebanon's political landscape has been characterised by two major political axes; the March 8 Alliance, consisting of political parties supporting the Syrian regime, and the March 14 Alliance, which adopts an anti-Syrian regime stance. The March 8 Alliance includes Shi'a party Hezbollah, which is supported by Syria and Iran creating a major concern for US influence in the region, while the March 14 coalition is supported by Saudi-Arabia (Tholens, 2017:870). Furthermore, literature suggests the Syrian agenda underlies the absence of the Lebanese Armed Forces in Lebanon's border areas (Picard, 2000; Meier, 2013:363).

Against this background, international security assistance in Lebanon increased significantly, notably after withdrawal of Syrian military and intelligence services in 2005, and the 2006 Israeli-Hezbollah war. Today, security assistance is supported by the majority of western embassies in Beirut. Encompassing activities aiming to structure, train, equip, and advise foreign security forces, ranging from short-term trainings to long-term capacity building, Tholens (2017) argues that international security assistance has become 'an important vehicle in the wider Middle East game'. She argues it creates consequences for domestic political influence through support for selected security institutions. To some extent, 'border management has become an umbrella term, encompassing the entire gamut of strategic priorities, including counterterrorism, the fight against organized crime, migration management and protection of territorial sovereignty' (Tholens 2017:869).

This is especially visible through the presence of the United Nations Force in Lebanon (UNIFIL), deployed since 1978 in the Lebanon-Israel-Syria tri-border area, whose mission was strengthened under Resolution 1701.³⁸ UNIFIL's mandate was not only to ensure the withdrawal of Israeli forces, but also to restore international peace and security, and to assist the Government of Lebanon in restoring control in the area (UNIFIL, n.d). In reality, however, UNIFIL's primary mandate was to provide humanitarian assistance (Meier, 2013:360).

Until today, UNIFIL, supported by United Nations Truce Supervision (UNTSO),³⁹ is a key actor in the south of Lebanon. Formally, the Ras Naqoura border crossing is operated solely by the United Nations Interim Force in Lebanon and the Israeli Defense Forces. As Meier notes, their presence grants the UN 'eminent authority' over the Blue Line (2013:362).

6. Challenges in Implementing Border and Migration controls

6.1 Pre-entry: restrictions and realities

Many interlocutors have indicated the necessity to leave Syria, for example out of fear of obligatory conscription into the Syrian army (Broker, Interview, Beirut, 3 October 2018) or

³⁸ Yet, it is important to note that UNIFIL's mandate, at least between 1982 and 2000, was primarily confined to providing humanitarian assistance, rather than military assistance (Meier 2013:361).

³⁹ UNTSO is an un-armed UN actor trained to observe and report violations of the agreements of ceasefire, disengagement, etc. (UNTSO, n.d.).

because of deteriorating safety conditions. A female refugee from Aleppo illustrates 'There were bombings on the way [to the Lebanese border], but we were able to cross them thankfully' (Interview, Beirut, 23 November 2018). Another Syrian woman confirms: 'When we left Homs, it was in a very bad state. We couldn't believe that we reached the borders of Lebanon, it was such a relief' (Interview, Majdal Anjar, 10 November 2019).

The majority of Syrian and Palestinian Syrian interlocutors indicated the initial ease of crossing the Lebanese-Syrian border, as a result of the open-border policy between the two countries. This situation changed significantly in 2014, when a series of restrictive policies targeting Syrians in Lebanon was adopted (see Section 4.1). First, as of May 2014, Palestinian refugees from Syria (PRS) were denied entry to Lebanon (Lebanon Support, 2016a). A Palestinian-Syrian refugee illustrates:

[First] we didn't have any problems, because they were letting everyone to pass through the borders easily. That is why, at the time, I was able to go back and forth to Syria in order to see my daughters. [Nowadays] I tried to come to Lebanon several times, [...] but I wasn't able to, because I am Palestinian-Syrian. We are very restricted [in our movement]; we cannot go to many places, we always need a security approval (Interview, Beirut, 14 December 2018).

Other significant restrictions affecting Syrian refugees wishing to enter or reside in Lebanon were adopted by the Council of Ministers on October 23, 2014, which aimed to 'reduce the numbers' of Syrians in Lebanon, and to gain control of their presence (Lebanon Support, 2016a). Following this decision, the General Directorate of General Security enforced new, restrictive immigration controls and imposed fees at the Syrian border as of January 2015 (see Section 4.1), which in effect shut down the borders with Syria for the majority of Syrian refugees in Lebanon.

By the Preamble of the Lebanese Constitution, by means of customary international law, and by virtue of having ratified the United Nations Convention Against Torture and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (Frontiers Ruwad, 2013) Lebanon is committed to, amongst others, the principle of *non-refoulement* (UNHCR, 1977). However, human rights activists argue that being denied access to territories can be regarded as a form of *refoulement*, as well. A border expert explains:

'Many [irregular migrants] are intercepted by the army or by the police. Depending on where they are, they are detained and then would be processed, or they are directly returned to Syria, without actually ever having entered into Lebanon' (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019).

A lawyer illustrates similar experiences for refugees already residing in Lebanon: 'We are not actively deporting people; however, it is taking place indirectly by denying people residencies' (Interview, Beirut, 18 April 2018).

A State Council decision in February 2018 annulled the restrictive residency measures targeting Syrian refugees' access to Lebanon, as well as the newly imposed fees,⁴⁰ stating

⁴⁰ Although a decision in February 2017 lifted the residency renewal fees, this waiver does not apply to a large number of refugees. This includes all Syrians who are not registered with the UNHCR and all Palestinians from Syria.

that the role of the General Security is confined to *implementing* conditions imposed by the Council of Ministers, rather than establishing them (Saghieh and Frangieh, 2018). However, despite this development, and although Syrian migration to Lebanon is formally governed by the bilateral agreements between Syria and Lebanon, this decision has received little significance. In reality, legal presence for (Palestinian-) Syrians continues to be a challenge until today (Lebanon Support, 2016a; Lebanon Support, 2018).

As a result of the restrictive 2014 policies, interlocutors have informed us that the only viable way to obtain legal residency is under the migrant worker category (Lebanon Support, 2016b), although it subjects Syrians to a version of the *kafala* system, which facilitates abuse and exploitation (see Section 4.1). Furthermore, interlocutors have indicated the difficulty in finding a *kafeel* (sponsor). In fact, research highlights the emergence of informal structures and black market 'solutions' in an attempt to facilitate Syrians' access to legal status. These include fake sponsorships, and usually coincide with unlawful and exorbitant amounts of money requested by 'sponsors' (Lebanon Support 2016a; Lebanon Support 2016b; Lebanon Support 2018a). A male refugee without legal status critically notes:

Once, I spoke to a soldier who had detained me for perhaps the sixth time, and I was fed up. I asked him, 'Don't you know that we are unable to get a *kafeel*? And [still, you] detain us all the time?'. He replied saying that it was not his problem. Then he added, 'I can get you a *kafeel*, but do you have any money?' [...] I don't understand why is he detaining me for something that he knows is expensive and hard to get (Interview, Akkar, 3 October 2019).

Moreover, the inability for Syrians to legally enter or reside in Lebanon has exacerbated irregular migration, which existed long before the eruption of the Syrian crisis. Between the Lebanese and Syrian control posts, a zone of approximately twelve kilometres 'no man's land' exists (see Section 3.3). A border expert explains: 'Irregular migrants leave Syria quite legitimately through the [Syrian] border crossing point, and then they leak, one way or the other, through the [mountain] border into Lebanon – or they attempt to' (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019). A female Syrian refugee confirms: 'We knew that it was difficult to get through the Lebanese borders, and that they were not allowing some people to enter. So we crossed the Syrian border legally, with papers and all. But I entered Lebanon illegally through the mountains' (Interview, Beirut, 16 November 2018). A focal person in Majdal Anjar adds that Lebanese authorities are often aware of irregular pathways: 'I even know someone who was told by the General Security at the borders how to re-enter illegally' (Focal Community Person, Interview, Majdal Anjar, 9 December 2018).

Increasingly, Syrians unable to enter Lebanon through one of the official crossings are going through extreme measures to make their way into Lebanon, sometimes with deadly consequences. For example, during exceptionally icy weather of January 2018, thirteen Syrians were found frozen to death along a smuggling route not far from Suweiri (Akman, 2018). By February, the body count had grown to a total of 17 that included 3 children. A UN border expert illustrates the dangerous conditions faced during illegal crossings:

Overall, we can say that for most of those who entered through the mountains, the conditions were harsh. Not only because of the long hours of walking, or the weather, but most importantly, because of the presence of militias at those crossings. [Furthermore], smugglers would take advantage of these people, not only in terms of

stealing, but also harassment, rape and human trafficking. Death in these harsh crossings is either due to the harsh weather conditions or smugglers leaving them to die (Interview, Majdal Anjar, 9 December 2018).

The UN representative adds: 'Refugees have told me they would have to move in certain rhythm to keep up [with the group]. They cannot slack off or relax, so those who are able to walk for long periods can make it. Those who are not, will get lost in the mountains. No one will wait' (Interview, Majdal Anjar, 9 December 2018). A female Syrian refugee in Mount Lebanon describes how this affects various groups of refugees differently:

'For young men, crossing the border illegally isn't that difficult, but for young women with children, it is more tiring. I felt really bad for the seniors on the trip, there were men that were 100 years old. It was so difficult for them to cross' (Interview, Mount Lebanon, 21 October 2018).

A UN representative working at the border explains this contributes to fear of being left behind in the mountains: 'Many refugees told us they got lost in the mountains and did not know how to get back. And of course, there are also smugglers who would steal all their belongings, and leave them behind in the mountains' (Interview, Majdal Anjar, 9 December 2018). A Syrian mother of six children adds: 'I was mostly scared for my kids. I didn't want them to see something that could scare them, like someone [arresting] me and throwing me in jail' (Interview, Beirut, 16 November 2018).

Crossing the border illegally is not only dangerous, but also requires the payment of large sums of money. A Syrian man explains: 'You know how things happen in these situations. You need to pay bribes to get past the borders, that's how it works' (Interview, Beirut, 3 December 2018). Nonetheless, two civil society actors argue that entering legally or illegally will eventually result in the same outcome, as the majority of Syrian refugees are unable to obtain legal long-term residency (Focus group, Beirut, 26 November 2018):

- *Participant 1:* Entering [Lebanon] illegally is very risky, people have died entering this way. They also need to pay a lot of money: it is not cheap to enter irregularly.
- *Participant 2*: I know, but it is easier for them to enter illegally. Even if they enter legally, they will be illegal, eventually. [...] So, it is the same for them.

A representative of the Civil Defence Forces describes his ambivalent position when Syrians are caught in the mountains:

There are planted bombs [...] on the Syrian side of the mountains [separating Lebanon from Syria], and [refugees] are exposing themselves to this, nonetheless. Either with smugglers or alone, women and children; we are seeing them coming, no matter what. As Civil Defence Forces, we are picking up corpses and injured people and women who are unable to walk anymore in the mountains. [...] We help them, but the people we catch, we have to hand over to the Lebanese government. In our authority, we cannot assist them with the smuggling (Interview, Majdal Anjar, 9 December 2018).

Apart from entering Lebanon illegally, Syrian refugees also spoke of return to Syria via illegal pathways, even if their health situation did not allow for it. A female Syrian refugee married to a construction worker illustrates:

I had to go back to Syria [...], because I got pregnant with my second child and I couldn't give birth in Lebanon. I had to do a C-section [...] and it was cheaper for me to go to Syria and give birth there. So I crossed the borders, again illegally: the same way I did it the first time. But this time I was pregnant (Interview, Mount Lebanon, 21 October 2018).

It should be noted that in order to access goods at more affordable prices, some Syrian communities are paying taxi drivers to transport different commodities from Syria. Taxis, including those with Syrian driving licenses are able to traverse the borders with some degree of ease. As a taxi company manager explains, 'Some people get provisions from their families back in Syria and the other way around. The distance from Lebanon to Damascus is closer than from Damascus to Aleppo, so it makes more sense to be in Lebanon and send assistance to your family in Damascus (Interview, Beirut, 23 November 2018). Significantly, Syrian taxis must pay \$100 to obtain insurance and a permit, are unable to enter the airport, and are only allowed to use limited routes in Lebanon.

6.2 At the border

The two main agencies involved in the border crossing process are the General Security and the Customs Administration. Depending on the border crossing, a number of other agencies are present, such as the Red Cross, Ministry of Social Affairs, or the UNHCR. Although some agencies might have offices at the border, they are not part of the routine border crossing process (Border expert, Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019). Significantly, many interlocutors, including humanitarian actors, academics, and NGO workers, were unaware of their presence at the border (Focus group, Beirut, 26 November 2018). A UNHCR border representative explains this also applies to Syrian refugees themselves: 'As UNHCR, we do have an office at the border itself. However, 90% of displaced Syrians do not know about this. The issue is that we do not have a strong role at the borders. We can not tell the General Security to allow someone to enter or not. All we can do is monitor' (Interview, Majdal Anjar, 9 December 2019).

Lebanon's southern border

The two remaining border crossings on the Lebanese-Israeli border 'Fatima Gate' and 'Ras Naqoura'⁴¹ remain closed since the Israeli withdrawal from Lebanon in 2000.⁴² Access to this border is strictly prohibited and passing it is effectively impossible (see Section 4.1). A border expert illustrates:

There is a clear zone of separation [between the two countries]. There is a strong wire fence: on some places it's concrete, but it's mainly wire. And then there is an access

⁴¹ Also known as the Rosh HaNikra border crossing.

⁴² However, the latter has been used several times to return political figures and activists (Israel), and the bodies of soldiers (Hezbollah, n.d.).

road that runs along the fence. On the Lebanese side, there's very little; there are some old watch towers that are rather unsafe, there are some mines laid [...], and there is some – rather worn out – barbed wire fencing. It's not very professional. In fact, even Lebanese army officers that I've talked to, have actually said that on the Israeli side, they are the ones who got the facilities right – and that the Lebanese lag behind (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019).

Lebanon's limited capacity to guard its borders is notably visible through the fact that, until today, the cessation of hostilities between Lebanon and Israel have been violated on a daily basis (Lebanon Support, 2018b).⁴³ Israeli violations of Lebanese sovereignty, whether through territorial, air, or maritime space, along with heavy artillery exchanges, are still one of the most regular violations until today, with a total number of 4342 violations by the Israeli Army mapped between 2015 and 2018 (Lebanon Support, 2018b).

Although the UN and the broader international community condemn such violations, punitive actions can not be taken, as UN Resolution 1701 is not legally binding (Lebanon Support, 2015). As such, tensions on the Lebanese-Israeli border are ongoing. After Hezbollah – the 'world's most heavily armed non-state actor' (CSIS, 2018) – announced a warning about its growing military capacity (The Daily Star, August 2018), threats against Lebanon and Hezbollah increased in 2018 (Lebanon Support, 2018b). Furthermore, the construction of a controversial wall by the Israeli army has contributed to turmoil at the southern border (The Daily Star, September 2018).

In this context, the Security State Council renewed the UNIFIL's mandate for an additional year on 30 August 2018, reiterating the risks of resurgence of a new violent conflict following violations of the ceasefire (Lebanon Support, 2018c; VOA News, August 2018).

The Lebanese-Syrian border

At the Syrian border, there are five official border crossings,⁴⁴ although its mountains have historically experienced irregular migration since the establishment of the state Lebanon. The Lebanese-Syrian border witnessed various episodes of violence resulting from Syrian conflict spillovers. These include, for example, suicide bombings in Arsal (2017), and led to an intermittent intensification of army operations at the border.⁴⁵ Furthermore, in the context of restrictive policies targeting Syrian nationals since October 2014, arrests for illegal stay and entry have been frequent, notably in border areas such as Marjaayoun and Hasbaya (Lebanon Support, 2018d).

Border experts emphasise the poor infrastructure at the Lebanese-Syrian border crossings:

⁴³ For an overview of the violations, see Lebanon Support's Mapping of Conflicts, within the Conflict Analysis Project (Lebanon Support, 2018b).

⁴⁴ That is, al Arida, al Abbudiyeh, and al Bouqeiha in northern Lebanon, and al Qaa and al Masnaa along the eastern border (Arab News, 2017). Of the crossings, al Masnaa, linking capital cities Beirut and Damascus, is the most used crossing point for individuals and vehicles, whereas al Bouqeiha remains closed.

⁴⁵ For instance, in July and August 2017, armed militants have been expelled from Arsal and Ras Baalbeck by the LAF and Hezbollah. After this period, the LAF has been arresting militants, seizing weapons and dismantling remaining explosive devices (Lebanon Support, 2018d).

There are not enough border crossing points [...] [The existing ones are] badly organized in terms of moving people efficiently, [...] badly connected in terms of information technology, and things like electricity and water don't work very well. The places are not very clean, and there's just not very good infrastructure at border crossings (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019).

This significantly limits capacity at the border: 'If the crossing point itself is not in a very good situation, or is even perhaps in the wrong place, then equipment can't always be used to its maximum' (Border expert, Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019). Moreover, a representative from a human rights organisation describes limited facilities are available for asylum seekers, refugees, and migrants at the border: 'Something that is really important and must be available at the borders, is having toilets, food and water when their file is being studied [...] regardless if they are allowed entry, or not' (Focus group, Beirut, 26 November 2018).

However, for passport checks, General Security's equipment is described to be 'as good as you can get globally,' with support from the European Union and Germany (Border Security Representative, Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019). Still, a diplomat affiliated with the European Union remains sceptical:

Recently, the General Security improved their securitisation, and just a few weeks ago, the airport was provided with biometric fingerprinting machines. Regardless of these developments, in practice, regulations at the borders are not consistently applied. I'll give you an example; I have a Syrian friend artist who left Syria two years ago. As an artist and being a member of a syndicate, he was not in need of an ID card to enter Lebanon. At the Syrian border, everything went smoothly, but at the Lebanese borders, the General Security officer did not recognise that regulation and he was denied entry. My friend had to wait for 4 hours at the borders, until the officer's shift ended so that he could be allowed entry by another officer. If this is the way the Lebanese system works, then biometric scans will not 'improve' border management (Interview, Beirut, 28 November 2018).

In general, passengers wishing to enter Lebanon are subject to a first-line check by the General Security, in order to verify the identity of any person *vis-à-vis* the identity documents presented, the validity of travel documents, and the expiration date of visa or residence permits. A border expert argues:

For Lebanese citizens, I think the first-line check is rather weak, it is essentially reading the Machine Readable Zone (MRZ)⁴⁶ and the passport, and if that's ok, the passenger is allowed to proceed. And for a non-Lebanese, a landing card and an exit card has to be completed, and it's certainly my impression [...] that the focus of the officer is making sure that the information on the card is correct – rather than asking any questions, or profiling, or more visually observing the passenger (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019).

⁴⁶ Referring to the encoded identity recognition format, usually at the bottom of each passport.

At the same time, the General Security is praised for some of its competence, notably regarding second-line checks, which include determining whether a travel document is counterfeit, examining exit and entry stamps, *et cetera*. Additionally, General Security officers have been reported to be trained to a 'European Union expert level' standard (Border expert, interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019):

The second-line check is extremely efficient. [...] They detect forged documents of people going to Europe. Many more cases than European agencies do, actually. [..] They have trained European border guards and policemen, and even Frontex, on recognising forgeries of Syrian documents, Iraqi documents, or Schengen visas (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019).

Forged documents are reportedly mainly detected during preliminary checks at airport security gates, directly after baggage drop-off, before documents are processed at Immigration and Customs. This is because 'there is more time and less pressure on the actual processing of the document' (Border expert, Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019). The expert underlines that detection capacities can be used for various purposes:

If you have a good system that can log and check the people who are crossing the border, and if your officers are well trained in profiling, they can just as well spot terrorists as they can spot a victim of trafficking, for instance. A modernised border control system, making full use of IT, can better identify suspects, but it could also speed up the clearance process (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019).

Lastly, it is noteworthy to emphasise that the border areas are not homogenous, and despite some similarities in their governance, 'security measures vary according to the development of the Syrian conflict on the other side of the border' (Mouawad 2018:9).

6.3 Internal controls: arbitrary and gendered treatment

As a direct consequence of the restrictive residency policies introduced in October 2014 and implemented as of January 2015, 74% of Syrians (VaSyr 2017:13) and up to 90% of Palestinians from Syria (Global Detention Project, 2018) are estimated to be without legal status. In addition, large numbers of migrant domestic workers, notably from Ethiopia, the Philippines, and Sri Lanka, lack legal papers. Hired under the infamous *kafala* system – which ties workers' legal status to their employer – migrant domestic workers' passports are regularly reported to be confiscated by employers, and changing employer often implies losing legal status.

In this context, refugees and migrants are prone to arrest and detention, notably at the country's many checkpoints.

Indeed, a large majority of interlocutors, notably those without legal papers, has experienced mistreatment, abuse, or even arbitrary detention. This has contributed to an atmosphere of fear, and highly affected the mobility of asylum seekers, migrants, and refugees

in the country.⁴⁷ Many of our interlocutors indicated to adopt self-limiting measures, such as self-imposed curfews, or even attempting to use Lebanese dialect, in order to not attract attention from state authorities (Lebanon Support, 2016a).

Being susceptible to arrest and detention has added to dependency dynamics. A male refugee without legal status illustrates:

There was this one time, where an army man stopped me, and he acted like it was the best thing he did in his life. He told me to give him my phone. I asked him why: I know my rights as a citizen, and I know that by law, no one can force you to give your phone. But you can't do anything. I told him 'this is my business, not yours'. He ignored me and told me to just give it. He opened my phone and went through it. He searched through everything. He saw my pictures, my messages, everything. At the end he said, 'Yalla go, but renew your permit, okay?' (Interview, Akkar, 3 October 2018).

Importantly, interlocutors have indicated arbitrary treatment by security officers that may vary according to status. A Syrian activist explains: 'Basically, if you have money you can get past the borders. If you can afford a hotel reservation, if you can afford paying for a sponsorship, or if you're paying for education [you can get legal status] – that's how it works' (Interview, Tripoli, 14 November 2018).

Furthermore, many interviewees could not find logic in the way they were treated by security forces. A Syrian activist and journalist based in Tripoli, highlighted that arrest and detention occurs in an incoherent way, 'according to the General Security's mood. Sometimes people get detained for overstaying their visas, and other times not' (Interview, Tripoli, 14 November 2018). Interviewees had also witnessed that the use of social networks and even bribes could help in the release of detainees.

Moreover, interlocutors have indicated different experiences according to gender. Life is particularly challenging for men, who move more frequently outside of the domestic sphere due to social custom. They are particularly prone to arrest when passing through checkpoints across the country, or during army raids. One interlocutor explains that young men in his community adopt various strategies to avoid raids:

There is something particular about the young men who are living in informal settlements: they always wake up for the early morning prayers. Why? Not for religious reasons, but so they can escape the police raids taking place during that time. If they leave at dawn, they would stay there until the sun comes up, because all young men from the ages of fifteen to forty-five, even seniors in some cases, are at risk of getting detained for invalid papers. [...] Imagine, on a daily basis, all these young men at these specific times are not found in their homes. They are all at the mosques instead, seeking protection. This phenomenon can be witnessed in all areas, not just here (Focal Community Person, interview, Majdal Anjar, 10 November 2018).

⁴⁷ Not only has a lack of legal status limited refugees' mobility, access to livelihood opportunities, and social services (Lebanon Support 2016b; 2016c), it has also obstructed opportunities to officially register marriages, divorces, deaths, as well as birth cases – increasing risks of statelessness for newborns.

For many, it was preposterous that there was so much security and border infrastructure put into place restricting their movements. It was apparent that security measures affected peoples' lives in different ways:

There was a case of detainment of an old man in the informal settlement here who had heart problems and was waiting for a surgery for over a year. Unfortunately for him, he got detained on the day of his surgery. We told [the authorities] that he was dying, but they didn't believe us. He stayed imprisoned for hours before they realized that he really was sick. They let him out eventually, because they didn't want him to die in their custody. He missed his surgery that day. They took him, and risked his life – all for not having a valid residency (Focal Community Person, interview, Majdal Anjar, 10 November 2018).

Many interlocutors expressed reluctance to travel far from their dwellings, especially alone, out of fear of arrest. A male Syrian refugee explains: 'When we need to go to Beirut, people agree to go in groups. So if we are caught [at a checkpoint], we can be in a cell together. We can't stand being in prison alone' (Interview, Akkar, 4 November 2018).

Given that men, in line with the narrative associating male refugees with terrorism, are prone to arrest and abuse in public spaces, women and children have notably taken up their roles in providing for the family. Moving from place to place in order to work, to buy groceries, or to get aid, is reported to be significantly easier for them. A female Syrian refugee illustrates: 'My father and my brothers experience challenges, because they were unable to renew their papers. The authorities make it difficult for men, that is why their mobility is more restricted. They cannot go past the Lebanese-Syrian border crossing, [or even] past the borders of the village' (Interview, Majdal Anjar, 10 December 2018).

Although shifting gender roles surely entails an element of empowerment and increasing agency, it also increases other risks, as women and children – notably those without legal status – are more likely to be exploited or (sexually) abused. In addition, domestic violence rates have been reported to increase, due to men feeling 'demasculinized' (Lebanon Support, 2016b). A Syrian man in Akkar explains: 'In general, [mobility] is one of the biggest problems for Syrians in Lebanon, especially men. No one [at the General Security] interferes with women. It is easier for women to move around. [...] Although this is just one problem, it causes a hundred other problems' (Interview, 4 November 2018).

In sum, life can become overbearing when living under fear of police raids, of being stopped at checkpoints, or being interrogated by security informants. Syrian refugees have expressed feelings of weariness, distrust and suspicion due to their exclusion from many aspects in the Lebanese society. Everyday mobility for refugees has become severely restricted, notably due to Lebanon's widespread and highly visible security measures, which can be considered part of a deterrence strategy (Fawaz, 2012). Identified by our interlocutors as places to avoid, as such, checkpoints appear to form *de facto* 'internal borders' in Lebanon. In fact, as some checkpoints can be witnessed in established places, whereas others appear in an *ad hoc* manner in changing places, these 'internal borders' have a fluid character. As such, refugees and migrants are continuously subjected to *de facto* rebordering processes.

A majority of interviewees expressed a strong desire to return home to Syria. When they spoke of home however, it was mostly reminiscing: their home was in a past long gone, in stark contrast with their present reality. Although interlocutors were aware of increasing numbers of Syrians returning to their home country, they also indicated return is not an option for all. Whereas some are unable to return due to their anti-regime political stance, others have nothing to go back to. That is to say, homes are destroyed and job opportunities are bleak, while returning over official crossings is difficult. Many instead opted to find informal ways back and forth over the border. Meanwhile, Lebanese are able to move freely between the two countries: 'Many Lebanese continue to visit Syria without any trouble. We have Lebanese clients who are still going to Syria for religious reasons, to visit Christian and Muslim sacred places' (Taxi Company Manager, Interview, Beirut, 23 November 2018).

6.4 Detention, return, and deportation

Although by means of customary law, illegal entry in itself cannot be considered a base for detention (Frontiers-Ruwad, 2006:4), 45% of all detainees in Lebanese prisons have been detained on account of lacking a legal status (Alef *et al.*, 2017:9).⁴⁸ Until today, the 1962 Law on Entry, Stay, and Exit law penalises illegal entry, residency, and exit of foreigners in Lebanon. Although reforms to this law have been proposed and encouraged by human rights actors, until today, amendments appear to be lacking. As such, the 1962 law subjects refugees and migrants not only to criminal incarceration, but also to administrative detention (see Section 4.3), despite violating Article 14 of the UDHR. The wide presence of checkpoints throughout the country, placed at strategic points of passage, or emerging in changing locations, subjects refugees and migrants to continuous risk of investigation. Moreover, interlocutors have indicated that there is no standard policy for being detained for lacking legal status.

The vulnerability of refugees and migrants in prison remains a point of concern for human rights observers, in particular due to the poor conditions in which they are held. Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners are not met, subjecting them to 'severe overcrowding, insufficient access to food, water and medical assistance, and a lack of bed space' (Global Detention Project, 2018), even though all these conditions are specifically prohibited by the 1955 Internal Rules of Prisons (CLDH 2010:82). Especially underground detention facilities – supposedly temporary holding locations – are highlighted for the lack of natural light or aeration (Frontiers-Ruwad 2015:11). Under these conditions, detainees face prolonged detention, regular ill-treatment, and even torture (Global Detention Project, 2018). What is more, is that access to detainees is described to be difficult for lawyers, and impossible for civil society actors (Frontiers-Ruwad 2015:13). Even though free legal aid is provided for under a 2006 Memorandum of Understanding between the GSO and Beirut Bar Association, 'lawyers must obtain special permission from the General Security' to visit detained clients. Additionally, a 2012 directive increasingly restricted lawyers' access to detention facilities, further impeding detainees' access to legal counselling (Global Detention Project, 2018).

Furthermore, despite having ratified the Convention against Torture (2000), Lebanon has not explicitly criminalised acts of torture, notably psychological torture (Frontiers-Ruwad 2015:4). In fact, torture in Lebanon is described as 'widespread and systematic' (UN Committee against Torture, cited in Frontiers-Ruwad 2015:5). Nonetheless, these practices see minimal governmental oversight, and in-depth public investigations on cases of torture appear to be lacking.

⁴⁸ In 2016, the number of detainees in Lebanon was estimated to be around 6330, 64.7% of whom are in pre-trial detention (ICPR, 2016).

Still, after being detained, refugees have indicated to be eventually released after hours, days, or weeks. A lawyer specialised in migration governance explains this is due to the principle of *non-refoulement*:

What has improved in refugee detention for Syrians, is that we no longer see [prolonged] periods of [criminal, or] administrative detention, that we used to see with the Iraqis, and that we still see with the Sudanese and the non-Syrians. Syrians are detained for shorter periods of time, for screening and processing reasons. And then, they are released – they are not deported and they are not held. The reason why Syrians are released, is [...] because there is [the principle of] *non-refoulement*, and because there is [limited] resettlement as well: they know that not all Syrians will be resettled (Interview, Beirut, 29 January 2019).

This, however, is not the case for non-Syrian migrant workers, who are not only proactively arrested, but also held in limbo in arbitrary administrative detention for undefined periods of time, or even deported. Worryingly, employers withholding travel documents from migrant workers or confining their mobility – common practices within the *kafala* system – have until now not been condemned by the Lebanese judiciary (Ghaddar, Ghattas, 2018). At times, foreigners are reported to outnumber Lebanese nationals in prison (Global Detention Project, 2018).

Indeed, the commitment to *non-refoulement* for Syrians has been confirmed by the Lebanese authorities (Frangieh, 2014), for example during the Brussels II conference on 'Supporting Syria and the Region' (Human Rights Watch, 2019). When asked about the deportation of Syrian refugees, some interlocutors, notably from the UNHCR, claimed to be unaware of such practices, at least until 2019. Other interlocutors, however, explicitly argued Syrians have been deported on several occasions. The director of a human rights organisation explains:

There are a lot of Syrian activists being deported from the airport. [...] We know more about activists being deported in 2013 -2014. But at that time, we were not calling it *refoulement* [...] When movement was still easy, [Syrians rejected at the border were] still able to go to Berlin, or wherever they wanted, and get a refugee status there. Now, basically because of more restrictions from the EU side, there are less opportunities for them to go anywhere. So, if Syrians are at the border, and they get deported at 2 AM, the only advice is to go to Sudan, because it is the only country that Syrians can go to without a visa. We cannot tell them to take any plane towards Europe , Turkey or anywhere else, which is the problem now (Focus group, Beirut, 26 November 2018).

A UNHCR representative adds:

There has been a certain trend in the past months: Syrian refugees coming from Syria or Lebanon go to northern Cyprus, hoping to reach the southern part. They take a plane to Turkey, and from there to [Turkish-controlled] northern Cyprus, without a visa. However, when attempting to reach southern Cyprus, they are refouled back to Istanbul, then to Lebanon, and then back to Syria. The problem with that, is that even if they had a valid residency when reaching Lebanon, Lebanon would not allow them to re-enter, because they were *refouled* from Cyprus. In these cases, they leave

directly from the airports. So, there are very few cases that we managed to actually know about. (Focus group, Beirut, 26 November 2018).

Furthermore, a UN border representative explains that in rare cases, deportation occurs during the adjudication of asylum claims:

If a person overstayed his visa, the General Security would detain him for a few hours. If he is a suspect, they keep him in for a few days to interrogate him, then they give him a grace period [to leave the country] and let him go. If he overstays the grace period, they catch him again, and then let him go after an interrogation. However, if he has an adjudication [claim], the authorities would take him to the borderlands, and [...] let him leave. But they would not hand him over to the Syrian authorities (Focal Community Person, Interview, Majdal Anjar, 9 December 2018).

However, in practice, denying refugees legal access to territories undermines the mere principle of *non-refoulement*. Furthermore, fieldwork indicates that Lebanon's restrictive residency policy, as well as the precarious living conditions it induces, have contributed to refugees wishing to return to Syria (Lebanon Support 2016a; Lebanon Support 2016b; Human Rights Watch, 2019).

Lastly, re-entry bans circumvent the *non-refoulement* principle, as well. Refugees who entered Lebanon through unofficial border crossings, or who overstayed their residency, are faced with significant costs when leaving the country, and risk not being able to return to Lebanon. More specifically, refugees who are not registered at the UNHCR,⁴⁹ but who entered through an official border crossing after the implementation of the restrictive residency policies (5 January 2015), are required to pay 200 USD per person per year of overstay when leaving the country (UNHCR, 2016). Importantly, they are issued with a one-year re-entry ban. Refugees entering Lebanon through unofficial border crossings, are issued 5 days notice to leave Lebanon, and are required to pay a fine of 633 USD. As over 68 per cent of displaced Syrians and 89 per cent of Palestinian refugees from Syria live below the poverty line of 3.84 USD per person per day (LCRP, 2019), these financial obligations pose significant challenges for the majority of refugees. However, those unable to meet the financial requirements, are issued a permanent entry ban upon departure.

The director of a human rights organisation emphasises a re-entry ban actually prevents returns:

When you put a re-entry ban on Syrians, they will never leave the country, because they do not know if conditions are stable in Syria, yet. [If the government really wished for Syrians to return, they should] tell Syrians that even when they go to Syria, they can re-enter Lebanon. So they do not have to be afraid: they can take the chance (Focus group, Beirut, 26 November 2018).

In fact, some Lebanese authorities have encouraged 'voluntary' returns of Syrian refugees as of 2017 (Lebanon Support 2018a:33). More specifically, since May 2018, the General Security has been organising convoys to facilitate the return of thousands of Syrians.

⁴⁹ It is important to note that in May 2015, the Lebanese government requested to suspend the UNHCR registration of Syrians.

In parallel, the UNHCR has been pressured to adopt a more active role in organising the returns, despite the ongoing conflict in Syria (*ibid.*; Human Rights Watch, 2019).

Most recently, two decisions by the Lebanese authorities have paved the way for the forcible return of Syrians who entered Lebanon illegally, maintaining that the safety situation in Syria is conducive for returns (Legal Agenda 2019). First, on 15 April 2019, the Supreme Defense Council, whose decisions are not publicly made available, reportedly instructed security and military forces in Lebanon to take necessary measures to control irregular entry of Syrian nationals through the land borders.⁵⁰ Second, the General Security issued a decision on 13 May 2019 to deport all Syrians entering Lebanon through unofficial border crossings after 24 April, 2019, allowing for the deportation of Syrians based on a verbal order from the Public Prosecution, without Syrians being referred to trial. Furthermore, these deportations seemingly occur without any judicial oversight to prohibit refugees from being returned to places where their lives or freedoms could be threatened (Legal Agenda, 2019).

In this light, 16 Syrians – some of whom registered at the UNHCR – without legal status have been reported to forcibly sign repatriation forms, after which they were deported from the airport (Human Rights Watch, 2019), although the Lebanese government has categorically denied these allegations (AI Jazeera, May 2019). Furthermore, an official security report indicated that state security apparatuses (notably LAF, ISF, and GSO) have repatriated over 300 Syrian refugees between 7 and 20 May 2019 (MTV, 2019). In total, the General Security estimates that over 170,000 Syrian refugees 'voluntarily' returned to their country from Lebanon between December 2017 and March 2019 (The Daily Star, 2019a), although nongovernmental organizations working in Lebanon estimate that the number is much lower.

Nevertheless, the national political discourse has been placing increasing pressure on Syrian refugees to return to their home country, which constitutes a violation of international humanitarian principles (Human Rights Watch, 2018). It is noteworthy that local civil society actors, human rights activists, and academics in Lebanon have firmly denounced the scapegoating of and discrimination against refugees, especially in the context of the Lebanese Civil War. They emphasise that hostile narratives are not in line with principles adopted in the Lebanese Constitution, nor with international agreements ratified by Lebanon, and ofttimes rely on inaccurate data and information, as refugees have helped to strengthen Lebanon's economy (Civil Society Statement, 2019).

6.5 Co-operation among sub-national, national and supranational actors

Border management in Lebanon is characterised by limited coordination between and among actors at the sub-national, national, and supranational level. Data is generally unavailable or inaccessible, and coherent and effective coordination mechanisms are to be further developed. Furthermore, a lack of transparent processes at the border as well as the absence of accountability mechanisms impede refugees' and migrants' full access to basic human rights. What is more, is that border management in Lebanon is highly dependent on foreign aid, although a comprehensive strategy is lacking.

⁵⁰ Supreme Defense Council, Decision No. 50 of 14 March 2019.

Limited coordination within and between agencies

Experts have pointed out the lack of information sharing as one of the key factors impeding effective and efficient border management for the General Security. A representative of the UNHCR explains that as such, decisions are not implemented systematically between different offices of the General Security:

'Basically, when the central GSO issues a decision, it is not necessarily being implemented elsewhere. The follow-up is minimal; not existent anymore, actually. Even when you go to the central GSO office and tell them that another branch is doing something wrong, they will just pick up the phone and claim that they told them off, that's it! There is no investigation, there is no follow-up. And that is a huge issue' (Focus group, Beirut, 26 November 2018).

In particular, the electronic system to gather data has been highlighted as a challenge. First of all, the system does not allow for real-time data-sharing within the General Security. A border expert explains: 'At the moment, it's quite possible that, particularly as a non-Lebanese, you can come in at one [border crossing] point, and in a couple of hours you could leave through a different border crossing point, and no one would know' (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019). For this reason, border experts emphasise the need for a new system that will be able to collect this type of data. A border expert implementing a major border management project illustrates:

The new system is all about making the check faster, checking more information, recording the information in a better way so that it can be analysed, and so that it can be exchanged. [The objective is] to have such a system at every border crossing point around the country, and have it linked up; so that it is recorded in real time, collected in real time, and so that there's a two-way exchange of information before all the border posts (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019).

Furthermore, the current electronic information system does not yet allow for synchronisation with other national or international interfaces, and legislation to consult international systems for entry controls is lacking in Lebanon. Thus, although relevant information might be available, the General Security is reportedly unable to access it. For example, although an INTERPOL National Central Bureau in Lebanon is hosted by the Internal Security Forces, 'The General Security does not have direct electronic access to INTERPOL databases. Information on stop lists, or from [other] databases, do not reach General Security in real time' (Border expert, Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019).

Although the new information sharing system will form the basis of improved interface with international agencies, coordination between national agencies remains a point of concern: 'Somehow, [the interface still needs to facilitate that] INTERPOL information can go directly to the General Security and not be... I use my words wisely... held up in ISF' (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019). Discussions about improved collaboration between agencies through a Memorandum of Understanding are ongoing, but have not materialized at the time of writing this report.

However, the level of cooperation between the agencies present at the border – described to be minimal – has seen some improvement. A border expert explains: 'At certain

border crossing points, even if they were all located closely together, they simply didn't talk to each other. They didn't even know each others phone numbers. Now they do, and they actively work together' (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019). In addition, the agencies, including the Red Cross, have done several simulation exercises at border crossing points – such as attacks, bombs, or fires – collaborating under a 'really clear chain of command, using the standard operating procedures' (Border Security Representative, Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019).

The establishment of the Border Control Committee, an official body consisting of national and international actors to oversee the coordination of border management (ICPMD, n.d.), was another positive development. However, in reality, it is described to be rather ineffective. As a border expert argues, it is a 'fairly toothless, oversized body, rather than something that actually has any great authority '(Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019). With regards to sea border management, coherent coordination mechanisms appear to be lacking.

Lastly, border management in Lebanon is characterised by structural financial limitations. In this context, foreign aid, whether under the pretext of humanitarian aid or security assistance, has been on the rise.

Blurred lines between international humanitarian aid and security reinforcement

The significant rise of international humanitarian aid over the past decade has incited a new discourse on its ethics: whether it fosters cooperation or control, and promotes agency or dependence (Slim, 2015). An important subsequent concern is linked to the securitisation of foreign aid. Indeed, with the rise of global security threats, 'governments and international aid agencies have revised their aid strategies to reflect new security concerns and increased aid to strategic conflict-affected countries' (Brown, Gravingholt, 2016). As a consequence, the lines are often blurred between humanitarian and security aid, and 'aid workers frequently work closely with military personnel,' while 'development assistance' is placed alongside 'military instruments' (Brown, Gravingholt, 2016). It is under such a lens that security assistance to Lebanon must be understood.

Externalised border controls: the EU-approach

Since the eruption of the Syrian crisis, the European Union has initiated a series of initiatives to 'support' countries outside Europe in border management. First of all, the 2004 European Neighborhood Policy (ENP)⁵¹ aims at 'bringing the EU and its neighbours closer, to their mutual benefit and interest' (European Union, n.d.). Notably the eruption of the Syrian crisis in 2011, as well as the increased number of refugees and migrants on the move as of 2015, invited for significantly increased financial contributions in border management, and a more securitised approach.⁵²In this context, the European Agenda on Migration (European Commission, 2015), and the New Partnership Framework with Third Countries under the European Agenda on Migration (2016) were established.

⁵¹ The EPI covers Algeria, Egypt, Israel, Jordan, Lebanon, Libya, Morocco, Palestine, Syria and Tunisia.

⁵² For example, in 2011, the *Global Approach to Migration and Mobility* (GAMM) was created, which encompasses funds covering immigration, asylum, and preventing and controlling illegal migration.

Furthermore, in mid-2018, as part of its European Neighbourhood Instrument (EPI), the European Union announced a 50-million EUR package of which 46.6 million EUR is 'for promoting the rule of law, enhancing security and countering terrorism until 2020' and 3.5 million EUR 'in support of airport security' (Parlementaire Monitor, 2018). Another significant development began in 2013, when the International Centre for Migration Policy Development (ICMPD) launched the Integrated Border Management Lebanon (IBM). This project, supported by the European Union with a budget of 14 million EUR, aims to 'build on existing national and international efforts to strengthen Lebanon's capacity in the management of its land borders' (ICMPD, 2013). Furthermore, under its European Neighbourhood Policy, the European Union reserved 18 million EUR in 2018 for 'promoting the rule of law, enhancing security and countering terrorism in Lebanon' (European Commission, 2018b).⁵³

Still, despite significantly increased financial support, cooperation with European border agencies and European institutions such as Frontex or Europole, is yet to be improved. A border expert argues:

There is very little cooperation with Frontex, which has been a frustration. We've been trying [...] to interest Frontex more in Lebanon. I think that they actually missed an opportunity, in that there was a lot that the Lebanese could teach Frontex and the European Union. We have had two or three visits to Frontex [...], but they have been generally a guided tour of the building and a couple of hours of presentation on what Frontex does – without any real understanding of how cooperation can work. [...] However, several General Security document experts went to Frontex and gave them some training and provided information, which I think went into a guide book on forged Syrian documents. So, they do have a dialogue, but it's more on a person-to-person basis rather than anything official (Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019).

Moreover, such aid, often deceptively framed as well-needed humanitarian support or security assistance, can be analysed as a strategy of migration containment and control (Human Rights Watch, 2016). An EU-Diplomat argues:

'The EU MADAD regional trust fund is supporting the neighbouring countries [...] in the 'Syrian crisis'. The main objective of this trust fund is to stabilize refugees, so that they don't move on to Europe. This is done through 'development projects', such as investments in infrastructure and community-based projects.' (Interview, Beirut, 28 November 2018).

The EU-diplomat continues: 'The EU works with the Lebanese government to ensure that Syrian refugees stay in Lebanon. The EU has provided an immense amount of funding to Lebanon in order to provide economic opportunities to Syrians, and improve their infrastructure' (Interview, Beirut, 28 November 2018).

As such, by establishing and supporting border control systems outside its geographical space, and increasing 'cooperation' with neighboring countries, the EU has

⁵³ Stakeholders included the LAF, the Military Courts, the ISF, Municipal Police, The General Directorate of State Security, General Security, the Lebanese Civil Defense. and Lebanese Customs Administration (European Commission, 2018b).

externalised its borders to the Middle East. In this context, Europe's neighbouring countries appear to have turned into 'Europe's new border guards' (Transnational Institute, 2018).

Security assistance 'bonanza': a lack of strategy

Lebanese governance systems have a long history of security-focused approaches, reinforced in the 1950s and 1960s by President Fouad Chehab (1958-1964). In this context, Lebanon's expenditure for security was 'unusually high' in 2017, accounting for 16% of its annual spending (Berthier, Haddad, 2018), and even saw significant increases in 2018 (Citizen Budget, 2018; Arbid, 2018).⁵⁴

The securitised approach is exacerbated by foreign security assistance, which is often provided by individual donor countries, as well, through state-to-state support. For example, in 2018, the United Kingdom added 13 million USD to its initial 110 million USD pledge to support the LAF and the ISF, primarily in securing the Lebanese-Syrian border (British Embassy Beirut, 2018), supported by Germany with 1.5 million EUR (British Embassy Beirut, 2017). Furthermore, the United States' allocated 152.8 million USD security assistance to Lebanon (Congressional Research Service, Lebanon 2018),⁵⁵ including military equipment and training for the Lebanese Armed Forces (Addis, 2011).

However, the lack of a coherent coordination framework for security assistance is striking. A border expert explains:

One of the problems, is that [...] so many different actors or donors work on different methodologies – which could be simply about budgeting or about staffing or about program cycle – and it's extremely hard to really genuinely collaborate, and to actually make it effective. There is no real, robust donor coordination in terms of border management (Border expert, Interview, Beirut, 23 January 2019).

As such, donors are able to implement their varying priorities and normativities without coordination. What is more, is that the participation of aid recipient countries is minimal. As Tholens (2017:867) argues, the '*modus operandi* is one in which each donor digs its own niche, supporting 'its' agency among the myriad of security actors'. What is more, the non-transparent and *ad hoc* character of this 'bonanza' of foreign security assistance renders its full analysis more difficult.

For example, in 2019, Ambassador Rampling reaffirmed British support to the LAF as the 'the only legitimate defender of Lebanon' (Middle East Monitor, 2019b). This declaration coincides with Britain's recent decision to ban Hezbollah as a terrorist organization under the auspices that the party's political and military wings are indistinguishable (Middle East Monitor, 2019a). Similarly, the United States' political interest in Lebanon centers around its perception of the LAF as an effective stabilizing force to counterbalance Hezbollah and keep Lebanon's borders free of 'extremists' (US Department of State, 2018). However, following Hezbollah's

⁵⁴ That is, Lebanon's March 2018 budget allocated 2.1 billion USD toward the Ministry of National Defense (Citizen Budget, 2018): a 14% increase from 2017. A 10% increase of 1.1 billion was allocated to the Ministry of Interior and Municipalities. By contrast, the Ministry of Education and Higher Education received almost 1.4 million (Arbid, 2018).

⁵⁵ This amount is broken down as follows: 85 million for the Economic Support and Development Fund, 50 million for Foreign Military Financing, 2.75 million for International Military and Education Training, 6.2 million for International Narcotics Control and Law Enforcement, and 8.8 million for Nonproliferation, Antiterrorism, Demining and Related Programs.

success in the 2018 elections, US Secretary of State Pompeo called for a review of Lebanon's military aid due to fear that 'Hezbollah's influential role in the Lebanese government amounts to terrorist control over all state institutions,' including the LAF (Miller, Ruffner 2018).

Thus, security assistance should be viewed in light of a pluriformity of global discourses on security practices. Moreover, Lebanon's already divided political landscape and powersharing system exacerbates polarized political views and obstructs effective and coordinated migration governance.

7. Conclusion

Free movement of capital – be it goods, people, or services – has been one of the cornerstones of economic and cultural globalisation worldwide. Greater movement, temporary or permanently, whether for purposes of tourism, business, education, family reunification, or others, has resulted in increasingly fluid borders for some individuals. At the same time, borders appear to have hardened for other individuals: land, maritime, and air space border surveillance is on the rise, border walls are emerging, and border management actors are equipped with a growing arsenal and innovative control technologies to withstand 'threats' of immigration.

In countries in 'fragile' contexts with 'porous' borders, the international community intervenes in border management practices (Tholens, 2017:870). Indeed, Lebanon's borders – established to identify French and British colonial gains in the Middle East under the Sykes-Picot agreement – until today, are undemarcated and considered porous, rendering their management more difficult. The number of border crossing points in Lebanon are reported to be insufficient and their infrastructure in poor shape. Furthermore, the coordination within and among various agencies active in border management has been described as minimal by our interlocutors. Lastly, Lebanon's borders are reportedly subject to continuous air space and maritime violations on an almost daily basis by the Israeli Defence Forces (Lebanon Support, 2018b). As such, backdropped by mass migration and looming threats of terrorism spill-overs, Lebanon's borders have been increasingly strained.

However, it should be noted that international interventions, although seemingly adopted to strengthen Lebanon's 'territorial integrity, sovereignty and political independence' (UN Resolution 1701), appear to undermine the limits of the control of sovereign Lebanon. Under UN Resolution 425, UN military actor UNIFIL was based at Lebanon's southern border in 1978, and remains present until today. It also allowed for the establishment of the Blue Line, which *de facto* constitutes the border, although it differs from border lines drawn in international agreements (1949 Armistice Agreements; 1923 Paulet-Newcombe line), and leaves several issues, including the Sheb'aa farms, unsettled.

Similarly, international 'assistance' in securing Lebanon's border is on the rise. Although exorbitant donations ensure a stable, increasing flow of financial support through which infrastructures are improved and local border management actors are 'empowered', well-equipped, and 'capacities' are enhanced (ICMPD, n.d), such assistance generally does not occur within a coherent and effective framework. As such, its many actors, notably the European Union, the US, Saudi, and Iran, are able to implement their varying priorities without any regulation or coordination (Tholens, 2017). Logics of international control and border externalisation are exacerbated by Lebanon's politically divided landscape.

However, interventions and security assistance in so-called 'weak' states often fail to take into account the hybrid character of Lebanon's security assemblages, or historical characteristics of border spaces. In particular, they overlook the dynamic and fluid character in border areas, as well as pre-existing links between local communities that supersede formal political boundaries in favour of social or primordial links or cross-border trade, among others. Greatly varying from western state models, the 'existing situation is often one of soft frontiers rather than fixed hard borders' (Tholens, 2017:870).

Thus, global actors and their normativities entering into the local Lebanese context have affected not only the construction of Lebanon's borders, but also their management, until today. Ironically, the relative absence of development projects, as well as the creation of dependency on foreign aid, have contributed to the marginalisation of Lebanon's border areas (Mouawad 2018:15).

It is in this context, that (Palestinian) Syrian asylum seekers, refugees and migrants, after long periods of *laisser-faire* policies, are subject to increased control at Lebanon's external border, whereas an open-border policy used to be in place until 2015. Despite violating human rights enshrined in the Universal Declaration of Human rights that Lebanon is committed to by the Preamble of its Constitution, international customary law, and bilateral agreements, and despite explicit condemnation by the Lebanese judiciary, legal access has become virtually impossible for most refugees coming from Syria. At the same time, a securitised approach has been reported 'to allow the passage of 'desirable' goods and people' (Tholens, 2017:870), similarly to other border regimes elsewhere in the world.

However, singling out foreigners does not stop at the external borders. Our interlocutors have identified Lebanon's many internal checkpoints as places to be subjected to intimidation, violence, arbitrary arrest, and even detention, contributing to a constant atmosphere of fear. The checkpoints thus constitute 'internal' borders, which adopt a fluid pattern, as checkpoints regularly change locations. In this context, the right to mobility appears to be reserved only for few: refugees' daily routine notably revolves around sidestepping authorities, further deepening gaps between them and government officials. Returns, notably through forcibly signed 'voluntary' forms, are on the rise, although circumventing the principle of *non-refoulement*.

In this context, efficient, transparent, and sustainable border management processes should be further developed, that ensure the basic human rights of migrants and refugees. This, first of all, includes the development of a coherent legal framework, as well as ensuring its proper and systematic implementation. Furthermore, it includes the establishment of effective coordination and accountability mechanisms for actors working at the border. While governance of exclusion in Lebanon and other countries may, intentionally or not, make Syrians feel unwelcome, this process of marginalisation is clearly counter-conducive towards a more secure and stable future in the region. In order to actually 'secure' the Lebanese border, safe and sustainable pathways to enter and reside in the country should be prioritised: refugees and migrants should be able 'to arrive through the front door, rather than sneak in through the back' (Stephens, 2019).

References and sources

Addis, C.L., 2011. *U.S. Security Assistance to Lebanon: Report for Congress*. [pdf] Congressional Research Service. Available at: <<u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/mideast/R40485.pdf</u>> [Accessed 2 March 2019].

Afailal, H., Fernandez, M., 2018. The Externalization of European Borders: The Other Face of Coloniality Turkey as a Case Study. [pdf] *Athens Journal of Mediterranean Studies,* 4, (3), pp. 215-224. Available at:

<https://www.athensjournals.gr/mediterranean/2018-4-3-3-Afailal.pdf> [Accessed 30 January 2019].

Akman, M.A., 2018. Lebanon: 17 Syrian refugees frozen to death, *The Muslim News*. [online] 22 January. Available at: <<u>http://muslimnews.co.uk/news/middle-east/lebanon-17-syrian-refugees-frozen-death/</u>> [Accessed 26 February 2019].

ALEF – Act for Human Rights, 2013. *Two Years on Syrian Refugees in Lebanon*. [pdf] Alef-Act for Human Rights. Available at: <<u>https://alefliban.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Syrian-Refugees-2013-ENG.pdf</u>> [Accessed 23 February 2019].

ALEF – Act for Human Rights, Alkarama for Research and Studies, Ajem – Association of Justice and Mercy, Insan Association, Khiam Rehabilitation Center for Victims of Torture, Proud Lebanon, Restart Centre for Rehabilitation of Victims of Violence and Torture, 2017. *Lebanon, Joint shadow report.* [pdf] Available at:

<<u>http://www.khiamcenter.org/images/UserFiles/Image/NGO%20coalition_CAT_LEBShadowReport_Final_20170320_EN(1).pdf</u>> [Accessed 18 February 2019].

ALEF – Act for Human Rights, 2016. *Establishing the Primacy of Human Rights in Security Sector Reform in Lebanon*. [pdf] Available at: <<u>https://alefliban.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Establishing-the-primacy-of-HR-in-SSR-Lebanon.pdf</u>>

ALEF – Act for Human Rights, 2017. *Right to a Future: Threats to Legal and Physical Safety, Alef-Act for Human Rights.* [online] Available at: <<u>https://alefliban.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Legal-and-Physical-Safety_v02_web.pdf</u>> [Accessed 23 February 2019].

Amnesty International, 2015. *Pushed to the edge: Syrian refugees face increased restrictions in Lebanon*. [pdf] Amnesty International. Available at: <<u>https://www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/MDE2417852015ENGLISH.PDF</u>> [Accessed 3]

<<u>https://www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/MDE2417852015ENGLISH.PDF</u>> [Accessed 3 March 2019].

Anderson, B., 1991. *Imagined communities: Reflections on the origins and spread of nationalism*. London: Verso, p 53.

Arbid, J., 2018. Mapping the Money. *Executive Magazine*, [online] 27 April. Available at: <<u>https://www.executive-magazine.com/economics-policy/mapping-the-money</u>> [Accessed 2 March 2019].

Al Jazeera, 2016. Sykes-Picot: Lines in the sand. *Al Jazeera*, [online] 27 May 2016. Available at: <<u>https://www.aljazeera.com/programmes/aljazeeraworld/2016/05/sykes-picot-lines-sand-160518114434646.html</u>> [Accessed 3 March 2019].

Al Jazeera, 2019. Israel says it has found all Hezbollah tunnels on Lebanon border. *Al Jazeera,* [online] 13 January. Available at: <<u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/01/israel-hezbollah-tunnels-lebanon-border-190113080229019.html</u>> [Accessed 27 February 2019].

Al Jazeera, 2019. Lebanon Denies Forcing Syrian Refugees Back Home. *Al Jazeera*, [online] 25 May. Available at: <<u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/05/lebanon-denies-forcing-syrian-refugees-home-190525163445880.html</u>> [Accessed 29 May 2019].

Arab News, 2017. Border crossing between Lebanon and Syria reopens. *Arab News*, [online] 17 December. Available at: <<u>http://www.arabnews.com/node/1208911/middle-east</u>> [Accessed 4 February 2019].

BBC, 2018. Israel urges UN action over Hezbollah 'attack tunnels'. *BBC News*, [online] 19 December. Available at: <<u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-46618160></u> [Accessed 13 February 2019].

Berthier, R., Haddad, G., The Lebanese Warfare State. *The Synaps Network.* [online] 6 November. Available at: <<u>http://www.synaps.network/the-lebanese-warfare-state</u>> [Accessed 3 March 2019].

Blanford, N., 2016. Case study: the Lebanon–Syria border. *Rethinking international relations after the Arab revolutions*. Beirut, 15 April 2016. Beirut: Université St Joseph.

British Embassy Beirut, 2017. *UK-German MOU in support of the Lebanese Army*. [online] Gov.UK 26 September. Available at: <<u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-german-mou-in-support-of-the-lebanese-army</u>> [Accessed 9 March 2019].

British Embassy Beirut, 2018. *UK announces \$13 million for the Lebanese Armed Forces*. [online] Gov.UK 16 March. Available at: <<u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-announces-13-million-for-the-lebanese-armed-forces</u>> [Accessed 9 March 2019].

Brown, S., Gravingholt, J. (eds.) 2016. *The Securitization of Foreign Aid*. [e-book] Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 1-17. Available through:

<<u>https://books.google.com.lb/books?id=VdGbCwAAQBAJ&printsec=frontcover&dq=which+states+giv</u> <u>e+military+aid&hl=en&sa=X&ved=0ahUKEwjj7qLk9qHiAhUOfxoKHacnDfkQ6AEIUDAG#v=onepage&</u> <u>q=which%20states%20give%20military%20aid&f=false</u>> [Accessed on 2 March 2019].

Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS), 2018. *Hezbollah's Missiles and Rockets*. [online] Center for Strategic and International Studies 5 July. Available at: <<u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/hezbollahs-missiles-and-rockets></u> [Accessed 18 February 2019].

Civil Society Statement, 2019. Statement by local civil society organizations, human rights activists, and academics against discrimination, and for solidarity and Human Rights. [online] Available at: https://www.daleel-madani.org/node/169765 [Accessed 28 June 2019].

Crawford, A., Lister, S., Blackburn, S. and Burnett, J., 2005. *Plural policing: the mixed economy of visible patrols in England and Wales.* Bristol: Bristol University Press.

Chalcraft, J., 2009. *The Invisible Cage: Syrian Migrant Workers in Lebanon.* Stanford: Stanford University Press.

Decision No. 320, 1962. *Regarding the control of entry and exit from Lebanese border posts*. Beirut: Lebanese National Legal System.

Decree No. 10188, 1962. *Transit and Stay Visas*. [pdf] Lebanese Council of Ministers. Available at: <<u>https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/docs/SERIAL/39235/97114/F1425814770/LBN-39235.pdf</u>> [Accessed 7 March 2019].

Decision No. 1, 1970. *Decision number 1 for 1970 to amend Article 7 of Decision No. 320 for 1962.* [online] Lebanese Council of Ministers. Available at: <<u>http://www.legallaw.ul.edu.lb/LawView.aspx?opt=view&LawID=181324</u>> [Accessed 3 February 2019].

Decree No. 4186, 2010. Amendment of Decree 10188 on the application regulation entry and residence in Lebanon. [online] Lebanese Council of Ministers. Available at: http://www.legallaw.ul.edu.lb/Law.aspx?lawId=225926 [Accessed 7 March 2019].

El Mufti, K., 2014. Official response to the Syrian refugee crisis in Lebanon: the disastrous policy of no-policy. [online] Civil Society Knowledge Center, Lebanon Support. Available at: <<u>https://civilsociety-centre.org/paper/official-response-syrian-refugee-crisis-lebanon-disastrous-policy-no-policy</u> [Accessed 5 February 2019].

European Commission, 2014. *Global Approach to Migration and Mobility (GAMM)*. [online] European Commission Migration and Home Affairs. Available at: <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/international-affairs/global-approach-to-migration_en</u>> [Accessed 9 February 2019].

European Commission, 2015. *European Agenda on Migration*. [online] European Commission Migration and Home Affairs. Available at: <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-</u> <u>do/policies/european-agenda-migration_en</u>> [Accessed 7 March 2019].

European Commission, 2017. *A New Partnership Framework on Migration*. [pdf] European Commission Press Release Database. Available at: <<u>https://eur-</u> <u>lex.europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar:763f0d11-2d86-11e6-b497-</u> <u>01aa75ed71a1.0001.02/DOC 1&format=PDF></u> [Accessed 3 March 2019].

European Commission, 2018a. *European Civil Protection and Humanitarian Aid Operations*. [pdf] European Commission. Available at:

<<u>http://ec.europa.eu/echo/files/aid/countries/factsheets/lebanon_syrian_crisis_en.pdf</u>> [Accessed 23 February 2019].

European Commission, 2018b. Commission Implementing Decision on the annual action program in favor of the Republic of Lebanon for 2018. [pdf] European Commission. Available at: <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhood-</u>

enlargement/sites/near/files/c 2018 8188 lebanon aap 2018 merged document en.pdf> [Accessed 23 February 2019].

European Union (EU), n.d. *EU Neighbors Policy*. [online] Available at: <<u>https://www.euneighbours.eu/en/policy</u>> [Accessed 13 March 2019].

Executive Magazine, 2018. The Syrian Refugee Crisis in Lebanon: Ignored but ongoing. *Executive Magazine*, [online] 17 December. Available at: <<u>https://www.executive-magazine.com/economics-policy/the-syrian-refugee-crisis-in-lebanon</u>> [Accessed 2 March 2018].

Fawaz, M., Harb, M., Gharbieh, A., 2012. Living Beirut's Security Zones: An Investigation of the Modalities and Practice of Urban Security. *City & Society*, [e-journal] 24(2) pp. 173-195. Available through: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1548-744X.2012.01074.x [Accessed 19 June 2019].

Frangieh, G., 2014. Forced Departure: How Lebanon Evades the International Principle of NonRefoulement. Legal Agenda. Available at: <u>http://legal-agenda.com/en/article.php?id=675&folder=articles&lang=en</u> [Accessed May 23, 2018].

Fregonese, S., 2012. *Beyond the 'Weak State:' Hybrid Sovereignties in Beirut*. Environment and Planning D: Society and Space, [e-journal] 30(4) pp 655-674. Available through: <<u>https://doi.org/10.1068/d11410</u>> [Accessed 19 June 2019].

Frontiers-Ruwad, 2006. Legality vs. Legitimacy, Detention of Refugees and Asylum Seekers in Lebanon. Available at:

http://frontiersruwad.org/pdf/FR_Report_Legality%20vs.%20Legitimacy_Eng_2006.pdf [Accessed 15 March 2019].

Frontiers-Ruwad, 2008. Double Jeopardy: Illegal Entry - Illegal Detention Case Study: Iraqi Refugees and Asylum - Seekers in Lebanon. Available at:

http://frontiersruwad.org/pdf/FR_DoubleJeopardy_Eng_FINAL_5January2009.pdf [Accessed 23 February 2019].

Frontiers-Ruwad, 2013. *Lebanon-UNHCR Memorandum of Understanding*. [pdf] Frontiers-Ruwad Center. Available at: <<u>http://www.frontiersruwad.org/pdf/FR_Public_Statement_MOU_Nov_2003.pdf</u>> [Accessed 23 February 2019].

Frontiers-Ruwad., 2015. *Lebanon, Torture, Detention and Unfair trials: Joint submission in view of Lebanon's second periodic review by The Human Rights Council.* [pdf] UPR-Lebanon-Detention Coalition. Available at: <<u>https://frontiersruwad.files.wordpress.com/2015/03/2015_upr-</u>lebanon_detention-torture-and-unfair-trial_joint-submission.pdf> [Accessed 27 January 2019].

Ghaddar, A., Khandaqji, S., Ghattas, J., 2018. Justifying abuse of women migrant domestic workers in Lebanon: the opinion of recruitment agencies. *Gaceta Sanitaria.* [online] Available at: <<u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0213911118302474</u>> [Accessed 12 February 2019].

Global Detention Project, 2018. *Immigration in Lebanon: Deprivation of Liberty at the Frontiers of Global Conflict.* [online] Available at: <<u>https://www.globaldetentionproject.org/countries/middle-east/lebanon</u>> [Accessed 2 March 2019].

Global Security, 2013. *Lebanese Navy*. [online] Available at: <<u>https://www.globalsecurity.org/military/world/lebanon/navy.htm</u>> [Accessed 27 January 2019].

Goksel, T., Hauck, H. B., and Reigeluth, S., 2008. *Germany's contribution to Lebanese sovereignty: the Maritime Task Force, Coastal Radar System and Border Pilot Project (DGAP-Standpunkt, 1).* [online] Berlin: Forschungsinstitut der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Auswärtige Politik e.V. Available at: <<u>https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-130196</u>> [Accessed on 3 March 2019].

Hamill, K., 2012. *Policy Paper on Reforming the "Sponsorship system" for Migrant Domestic Workers: Towards an Alternative Governance Scheme in Lebanon.* [pdf] KAFA (Enough) Violence &

Exploitation. Available at: <<u>https://www.kafa.org.lb/sites/default/files/2019-02/Reforming_JKafalaSystemLeb_0.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 March 2019].

Hezbollah, n.d., *Timeline.* [online] Available at: <<u>https://hezbollah.org/timeline</u>> [Accessed 13 March 2019].

Human Rights Watch, 2016. The Impact of Externalization of Migration Controls on the Rights of Asylum Seekers and Other Migrants. [pdf] Available at: <u>https://www.hrw.org/news/2016/12/06/impact-externalization-migration-controls-rights-asylum-seekers-and-other-migrants</u> [Accessed 17 June 2019].

Human Rights Watch, 2018. *Our Homes Are not for Strangers: Mass Evictions of Syrian Refugees by Lebanese Municipalities*. [online] Available at: <<u>https://www.hrw.org/report/2018/04/20/our-homes-are-not-strangers/mass-evictios-syrian-refugees-lebanese-municipalities</u>> [Accessed 14 March 2019].

Human Rights Watch, 2019. *World Report: Syria*. [online] Available at: <<u>https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2019/country-chapters/syria</u>> [Accessed 25 March 2019].

Human Rights Watch, 2019. Lebanon: Syrians Summarily Deported from Airport. *Human Rights Watch*. [online] 24 May. Available at: <<u>https://www.hrw.org/news/2019/05/24/lebanon-syrians-summarily-deported-airport</u>> [Accessed 28 May 2019].

Humud, C.E., 2018. *Lebanon*. [pdf] Congressional Research Service Report. Available at: https://fas.org/sgp/crs/mideast/R44759.pdf> [Accessed 2 February 2019].

Hutson, R., Long,T., 2011. *Features of Smuggling in Wadi Khaled, Lebanon.* Conflict, Security & Development 11(4), pp.385-413. Available at:

<<u>https://www.academia.edu/759518/_Features_of_Smuggling_in_Wadi_Khaled_Lebanon._Conflict_S</u> <u>ecurity_and_Development_11_4_385-413._2011</u>> [Accessed 15 February 2019].

International Centre for Migration Policy Development (ICPMD), n.d.. *Strengthening Lebanon's Border Management for Safety and Security*. Available at: <<u>https://www.icmpd-lebanon.org/en/news/288-strengthening-lebanon-s-border-management-for-safety-and-security</u>> [Accessed 15 February 2019].

International Centre for Migration Policy Development (ICMPD), 2013. *EU-ICMPD Project on Integrated Border Management in Lebanon Kicks Off.* ICMPD. [online] 12 February. Available at: <<u>https://www.icmpd.org/news-centre/news-detail/eu-icmpd-project-on-integrated-border-management-in-lebanon-kicks-off/</u>> [Accessed 3 March 2019].

Institute for Criminal Policy Research (ICPR), 2016. *World Prison Brief Data: Lebanon.* Available at <u>http://www.prisonstudies.org/country/lebanon</u> [Accessed 3 June 2019].

Janmyr, Maja. 2016. "Precarity in Exile: The Legal Status of Syrian Refugees in Lebanon." *Refugee Survey Quarterly* 35 (4): 58–78.

Karamanidou, L., Kasparek, B., 2018. 'Border Management and Migration Control in the European Union' in *Global Migration: Consequences and Responses*. 2018/14. Available at: <<u>http://uu.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1248445/FULLTEXT01.pdf</u>> [Accessed 7 February 2019].

Kaufman, A., 2004. Understanding the Shebaa Farms Dispute: Roots of the Anomaly and Prospects for Resolution. *Palestine-Israel Journal of Politics, Economics and Culture,* [online] Available at: <<u>http://pij.org/articles/9</u>> [Accessed 27 January 2019].

Kaufman. A., 2013. *Contested Frontiers in the Syria-Lebanon-Israel Region: Cartography, Sovereignty, and Conflict.* Washington, D.C.: Woodrow Wilson Center Press / Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

Lebanese Army, n.d. *Mission of the Lebanese Army*. [online] Available at: <<u>https://www.lebarmy.gov.lb/en/content/mission-lebanese-army</u>> [Accessed 3 March 2019].

Lebanese Center for Human Rights (CLDH), 2010. *Prisons in Lebanon: Humanitarian and Legal Concerns*. [pdf] Lebanese Center for Human Rights. Available at: <<u>http://www.rightsobserver.org/files/cldh_prisons_2010_en.pdf</u>> [Accessed 3 February 2019].

Lebanese Center for Human Rights (CLDH), 2013. *Syrian Workers in Lebanon: An Assessment of Their Rights and Reality.* [pdf] Lebanese Center for Human Rights Available at: <<u>http://www.rightsobserver.org/files/Report_Syrian_Workers_ENG_final_(2).pdf</u>> [Accessed 5 March 2019].

Lebanese Ministry of Economy and Trade, n.d. Boycott. *Republic of Lebanon.* [online] Available at: <<u>https://www.economy.gov.lb/en/services/boycott</u>> [Accessed 7 February 2019].

Lebanon Crisis Response Plan (LCRP), 2017. *Lebanon Crisis Response Plan, 2017-2020*. [pdf] Available at: <<u>https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/LCRP2017-</u> <u>2020 Arabic Short Version Web.pdf</u>> [Accessed 24 February, 2019].

Lebanon Criminal and Penal Code, 1943. *Legislative Decree no. 360 On the Criminal Code.* [online] 1 March. Available at: <<u>https://wipolex.wipo.int/en/text/243255</u>> [Accessed 5 February 2019].

Lebanon-Cyprus Cooperation Agreement, 2002. Agreement between the Republic of Cyprus and the Republic of Lebanon on Co-operation in Combating the Illicit Use of and Trafficking in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances and Organised Crime. COG S.I(III) 3812, 20.02.2004, p. 97; Law No. 5(III)/2004.

Lebanon Migration Law, 1962. Order No. 319 Regulating the Status of Foreign Nationals in Lebanon and Law Regulating the Entry and Stay of Foreigners in Lebanon and their Exit from the Country. [pdf] Lebanon Council of Ministers. Available at:

<<u>http://www.legallaw.ul.edu.lb/LawView.aspx?opt=view&LawID=179943</u>> [Accessed January 28, 2019].

Lebanon Anti-Trafficking Law, 2011. *Law No. 164 for 2011 Regarding trafficking in persons crimes.* [online] Available at: <<u>http://www.legallaw.ul.edu.lb/LawView.aspx?opt=view&LawID=228905</u>> [Accessed on 7 March 2019].

Lebanon Support, 2014. *Arsal Conflict (starting August 2, 2004)*. [online] Civil Society Knowledge Centre (Last updated September 2017). Available at: <<u>https://civilsociety-</u> centre.org/timeliness/4927#event-a-href-sir-clashes-between-army-and-militants-arsalclashesbetween-army-and-militants-in-arsal> [Accessed 9 February 2019]. Lebanon Support, 2015. *Rise of Tensions on Israeli Border, Interactive Timeline*. Civil Society Knowledge Centre. [online] Available at: <<u>https://civilsociety-centre.org/timeliness/4926></u> [Accessed 13 Feburary 2019].

Lebanon Support, 2016a. *Formal Informality, Brokering Mechanisms and Illegality, The Impact of the Lebanese State Policies on Syrian Refugees' Daily Lives*. [online] Civil Society Knowledge Centre, Lebanon Support. Available at: <<u>https://civilsociety-centre.org/resource/formal-informality-brokering-mechanisms-and-illegality-impact-lebanese-state%E2%80%99s-policies</u>> [Accessed 5 March 2019].

Lebanon Support, 2016b. Syrian refugees' livelihoods, The Impact of Progressively Constrained Legislations and Increased Informality on Syrians' Daily Lives. [online] Civil Society Knowledge Centre, Lebanon Support. Available at: <<u>https://civilsociety-centre.org/resource/syrian-refugees-livelihoods-impact-progressively-constrained-legislations-and-increased</u>> [Accessed 5 March 2019].

Lebanon Support, 2016c. *Crisis control & (in) formal hybrid security in Lebanon, Policy brief & poster inside*. [pdf] Civil Society Knowledge Centre, Lebanon Support. Available at: <<u>https://civilsociety-centre.org/sites/default/files/resources/crisiscontrol-informalhybridsecuritylebanon-report.pdf</u>> [Accessed 13 February 2019].

Lebanon Support, 2016d. Access to Healthcare for Syrian Refugees. The Impact of Fragmented Service Provision on Syrians' Daily Lives. [pdf] Lebanon Support. Available at: <<u>https://civilsociety-centre.org/sites/default/files/resources/accesshealthcaresyrianrefugees-ls2016.pdf</u>> [Accessed 3 March 2019].

Lebanon Support, 2018a. *Legal & Policy Framework of Migration Governance*. [online] Civil Society Knowledge Center, Lebanon Support. Available at: <<u>https://civilsociety-centre.org/resource/legal-and-policy-framework-migration-governance</u>> [Accessed 19 June 2019].

Lebanon Support, 2018b. *Geo-located mapping of conflicts in Lebanon,* [online] Conflict Analysis Project. Civil Society Knowledge Center. Available at: https://civilsociety-centre.org/cap/map [Accessed 27 January 2019].

Lebanon Support., 2018c. *Conflict Analysis Bulletin, Issue 12, Focus on crackdown on social media by Lebanese authorities*. [online] Conflict Analysis Project, Civil Society Knowledge Centre. Available at: <<u>https://civilsociety-centre.org/article/conflict-analysis-bulletin-issue-12-october-2018-focus-crackdown-social-media-lebanese</u>>[Accessed 27 January 2019].

Lebanon Support., 2018d. *Conflict Analysis Bulletin, Issue 9, Focus on Illicit Trade Related to Arrests/Operations.* [online] Conflict Analysis Project, Civil Society Knowledge Centre. Available at: <<u>https://civilsociety-centre.org/article/conflict-analysis-bulletin-issue-9-january-2018-focus-illicit-trade-related</u>> [Accessed 3 March 2019].

Legal Agenda, 2019. *Position Paper on the decision to summarily deport Syrian nationals who entered Lebanon irregularly*. Available at: <u>https://www.legal-</u> <u>agenda.com/uploads/Position%20Paper%20on%20the%20decision%20to%20summarily%20deport%</u> <u>20Syrian%20nationals%20who%20entered%20Lebanon%20irregularly.pdf</u> [Accessed 15 June 2019].

Mattar, n.d. *Facts about Lebanon*. [online] Available at: <<u>http://mattarlaw.com/lawyers-articles/lebanon-facts/</u>> [Accessed 23 January 2019].

Meier, D., 2013. The south border: drawing the line in shifting (political) sands. *Mediterranean Politics,* [e-journal] Volume 18, pp. 358–75. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13629395.2013.834560> [Accessed 28 January 2019].

Meier, D., 2015. *Borders, narratives and representations: the case of South Lebanon*. [pdf] TOMidEast. Available at:<<u>http://www.to-asia.it/wp-content/uploads/2011/02/Borders-narratives-and-representations_Meier_Wednesday-9.30.pdf</u>> [Accessed 13 March 2019].

Meier, D. 2017. Introduction to the Special Issue: Bordering the Middle East. *Geopolitics, Taylor Francis Routledge,* [e-journal] 23(3), pp.495-504. Available through: <<u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/14650045.2018.1497375</u>> [Accessed 20 June 2019].

Middle East Monitor, 2019a. *UK must justify Hezbollah ban expansion, opposition Labour party says.* [online] Middle East Monitor 26 February. Available at: <<u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20190226-uk-must-justify-hezbollah-ban-expansion-opposition-labour-party-says/</u>> [Accessed 5 March 2019].

Middle East Monitor, 2019b. *UK affirms unwavering support for Lebanon Army*. [online] Middle East Monitor 22 March. Available at: <<u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20190322-uk-affirms-unwavering-support-for-lebanon-army/</u>> [Accessed 25 March 2019].

Middle East Monitor, 2019c. *Lebanese Draft Budget reduces deficit to below 9 pct of GDP*. Middle East Monitor. [online] 18 April. Available at: <<u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20190418-</u> lebanese-draft-budget-reduces-deficit-to-below-9-pct-of-gdp/> [Accessed 2 March 2019].

Migration Policy Centre (MPC), 2013. *Lebanon: The Demographic-Economic Framework of Migration The Legal Framework of Migration The Socio-Political Framework of Migration.* [pdf] Migration Policy Centre. Available at: <<u>http://www.migrationpolicycentre.eu/docs/migration_profiles/Lebanon.pdf</u>> [Accessed 7 March 2019].

Miller, A., Ruffner, T., 2018. *President Trump's Second Foreign Affairs Budget: Democracy, Governance and Human Rights in the Middle East and North Africa in FY 2019.* [pdf] Project on Middle East Democracy. Available at: <<u>https://pomed.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2018/06/BudgetReportFY19_Digital.pdf</u>> [Accessed 2 March 2019].

Ministry of Justice, UNODC and UNICEF 2008. *Measures to prevent and combat trafficking in human beings: Lebanon country assessment*. [pdf] Republic of Lebanon. Available at: <u>https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/Lebanon-HTreport-Oct08.pdf</u>> [Accessed 28 Feb. 2019].

Ministry of the Interior, 2018. *Results of the General Parliamentary Elections*. [online] Lebanon Ministry of the Interior. Available at: <<u>http://www.interior.gov.lb/AdsDetails.aspx?ida=281</u>> [Accessed on 5 February 2019].

Mouawad, J., 2018. Lebanon's border areas in light of the Syrian war: New actors, old marginalisation, *Middle East Directions, Research Project Report.* [pdf] European University Institute. Available at:

<<u>http://cadmus.eui.eu/bitstream/handle/1814/52564/RSCAS_PR_2018_03.pdf?sequence=1</u>> [Accessed 12 February 2019]. MTV, 2019. More than 300 people were deported from Lebanon. *MTV*, [online] 24 May. Available at: <<u>https://www.mtv.com.lb/News/930261</u>> [Accessed 26 May 2019].

Naharnet, 2018. *UK announces £40 million aid package to Lebanon for economy and job creation*. [online] 6 April. Available at: <<u>http://www.naharnet.com/stories/en/244581</u>> [Accessed 13 February 2019].

News24, 2018. Syria reopens two border crossings, but many escape regime control. *Arab news,* [online] 16 October. Available at: <<u>https://www.news24.com/World/News/syria-reopens-two-border-crossings-but-many-escape-regime-control-20181015</u>> [Accessed 3 March 2019].

Norton, A.R., 2009. *Hezbollah: A short history.* [e-book] 3rd ed. Princeton: Princeton University Press. Available through: https://press.princeton.edu/titles/11303.html [Accessed 27 January 2019].

NOS, 2019. Trump: US must recognize the Golan Heights as Israeli Territory. *NOS*, [online] 21 March. Available at: <<u>https://nos.nl/artikel/2277082-trump-vs-moet-de-golanhoogten-erkennen-als-israelisch-territorium.html</u>> [Accessed 25 March 2019].

Now News, 2009. *Lebanon-Syria Borders*. Now Lebanon, [pdf] Available at: <<u>https://now.mmedia.me/Library/Files/EnglishDocumentation/Other%20Documents/Border%20Report</u>%20NOW.pdf> [Accessed 7 February 2019].

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), 1971. International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination. [online] OHCHR. Available at: <<u>http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CERD.aspx</u>> [Accessed 11 February 2019].

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), 1972a. *International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights*. [online] OHCHR. Available at: <<u>http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CCPR.aspx</u>> [Accessed 11 February 2019].

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), 1972b. *International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights*. [online] OHCHR. Available at: <<u>http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CESCR.aspx</u>> [Accessed 11 February 2019].

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), 1991. *Convention on the Rights of the Child.* [online] OHCHR. Available at: <<u>https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/crc.aspx</u>> [Accessed 11 February 2019].

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), 1997. *Convention on the Elimination of all forms of Discrimination Against Women* [online] OHCHR. Available at: <<u>https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/cedaw.aspx</u>> [Accessed 11 February 2019].

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), 2000. *Convention against Torture*. [online] OHCHR. Available at: <<u>http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CAT.aspx</u>> [Accessed May 11, 2018].

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), 2015. *Ratification Status for Lebanon*. [online] OHCHR. Available at:

<<u>http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/TreatyBodyExternal/Treaty.aspx?CountryID=9&L</u>>ang=E N [Accessed 11 February 2019].

Parlementaire Monitor, 2018. EU supports Lebanese security sector with €50 million. *ANP and PCD*. [online] Available at:

<<u>https://www.parlementairemonitor.nl/9353000/1/j9vvij5epmj1ey0/vkmor74qryve?ctx=vhu4eb6eg0y3</u> <u>&tab=1</u>> [Accessed 3 March 2019].

Picard, E., 2000. Autorité et souveraineté de l'Etat à l'épreuve du Liban sud, *Maghreb- Machrek,* (169) pp. 32–42.

Picard, E., 2006. "Managing Identities Among Expatriate Businessmen Across the SyrianLebanese boundary" in *Inga Brandell (ed.), State Frontiers: Borders and Boundaries in the Middle East*, I. B. Tauris, pp.75 – 100.

Picard, E., *et al.*, 2016. *Liban Syrie, Intimes Étrangers. Un Siècle D'interactions Sociopolitiques.* Arles: Sindbad/Actes Sud.

Ram, M., 2014. *Book Review of Contested Frontiers in the Syria-Lebanon-Israel Region: Cartography, Sovereignty, and Conflict by Asher Kaufman.* [pdf] Antipode, A Radical Journal of Geography. Available at: https://radicalantipode.files.wordpress.com/2014/07/book-review_ram-on-kaufman.pdf> [Accessed 13 March 2019].

Report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of Security Council resolutions 425 (1978) and 426 (1978) 22 May 2000, S/2000/460, 2000. *United Nations Security Council*, [online] Available at: <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6afbb0.html</u>> [Accessed 3 February 2019].

Republic of Lebanon, 2018. *Citizens Budget*. [pdf] *Republic of Lebanon, Ministry of Finance*. Available at: <<u>http://www.finance.gov.lb/en-</u>

us/Our_Latest/Latest%20News/English/Citizen%20Budget%202018.pdf> [Accessed 2 March 2019].

RT News, 2018. Israel threatens Lebanon with 'full strength' ground invasion in case of conflict. *World News,* [online] 1 February. Available at: https://www.rt.com/news/417610-israel-ground-operation-lebanon/> [Accessed 7 February 2019].

Saghieh, N., Frangieh, G., 2014. The most important features of Lebanese Policy towards the issue of Syrian refugees: From hiding its head in the sand to "soft power." *Heinrich Boll Stiftung*. [online] 30 December. Available at: <<u>https://lb.boell.org/en/2014/12/30/most-important-features-lebanese-policy-towards-issue-syrian-refugees-hiding-its-head</u>> [Accessed 29 January 2019].

Saghieh, N., Frangieh, G., 2018. *Regulating Entry and Residence Conditions for Syrians: A Legal Victory in Lebanon*. [online] The Legal Agenda. Available at: http://legal-agenda.com/en/article.php?id=4286> [Accessed 13 March 2019].

Slim, H., 2015. *Humanitarian Ethics: A Guide to the Morality of Aid in War and Disaster*. New York City: Oxford University Press.

Smith, A.D., 1986. The ethnic origins of nations. Oxford: Blackwell, pp. 23-35.

Soueid, M., 2000. Israël au Liban. La fin de 30 ans d'occupation? *Paris: Editions de la Revue d'études palestiniennes.*

Stephens, B., 2019. What Real Border Security Looks Like. *The New York Times*, [online] 10 January. Available at: <<u>https://www.nytimes.com/2019/01/10/opinion/border-wall-israel-lebanon-egypt.html</u>> [Accessed 5 March 2019].

Syrian Lebanese Higher Council, 1991. *Bilateral For Economic and Social Cooperation and Coordination between the Government of the Lebanese Republic and the Government of the Syrian Arab Republic, Syrian Lebanese Higher Council.* [pdf] Syrian Lebanese Higher Council. Available at: <<u>http://www.syrleb.org/SD08/msf/1507751474_.pdf</u>> [Accessed 3 March 2019].

Syrian Lebanese Higher Council, 1993. *Agreement for Economic and Social Cooperation and Coordination between the Lebanese Republic and the Syrian Arab Republic.* [pdf] Syrian Lebanese Higher Council. Available at: <<u>http://www.syrleb.org/SD08/msf/1507751474</u>.pdf</u>> [Accessed 9 February 2019].

The Daily Star, 2018. Hezbollah at its strongest, Nasrallah warns Israel. *Lebanon News,* [online] 15 August. Available at: http://www.dailystar.com.lb/News/Lebanon-News/2018/Aug-15/460275-hezbollah-at-its-strongest-nasrallah-warns-israel.ashx> [Accessed 14 March 2019].

The Daily Star, 2018. Israeli wall near border with Lebanon stokes tensions. *Lebanon News*, [online] 6 September. Available at: <<u>http://www.dailystar.com.lb/News/Lebanon-News/2018/Sep-06/462580-israeli-wall-near-border-with-lebanon-stokes-tensions.ashx</u>> [Accessed 5 Mar. 2019].

The Daily Star, 2019a. Over 170,000 Syrian Refugees have returned from Lebanon since Dec. 2017: General Security. *Lebanon News,* [online] 20 March. Available at: <<u>http://www.dailystar.com.lb/News/Lebanon-News/2019/Mar-20/479287-172046-syrian-refugees-have-returned-from-lebanon-general-security.ashx</u>> [Accessed 27 March 2019].

The Daily Star, 2019b. NGOs call for halt to Syrian deportations. Available at: <<u>https://www.pressreader.com/lebanon/the-daily-star-lebanon/20190625/281599537032942</u>> [Accessed 27 June 2019].

The General Security, n.d. *Functions of the general security*. [online] General Directorate of the General Security. Available at: <<u>http://www.general-security.gov.lb/en/posts/3</u>> [Accessed 18 February 2019].

The Lebanese Constitution with its Amendments, 1995. [pdf] Available at: <<u>https://www.wipo.int/edocs/lexdocs/laws/en/lb/lb018en.pdf</u>> [Accessed on 28 January 2019].

The Lebanese Penal Code, 1943. [pdf] Available at: <<u>https://sherloc.unodc.org/res/cld/document/lebanon-penal-</u> <u>code html/Lebanon Penal Code 1943.pdf</u>> [Accessed 13 March 2019].

The New Humanitarian, 2018. Unsafe in Syria, unwanted in Lebanon: Why some Syrian refugees are leaving Lebanon by sea. *The New Humanitarian*, [online] 11 December. Available at: <<u>http://www.irinnews.org/news-feature/2018/12/11/Syria-refugees-Lebanon-Mediterranean-drowning-Europe-Middle-East-smuggling</u>> [Accessed 5 March 2019].

Tholens, S., 2017. *Border management in an area of 'statebuilding lite': security assistance and Lebanon's hybrid sovereignty.* [pdf] 15 January. Available at:

<<u>http://cadmus.eui.eu/bitstream/handle/1814/50166/TholensLebanon_iix069.pdf?sequence=1</u>> [Accessed 27 Jan. 2019].

United Nations, 1992. *Treaty of Brotherhood, Cooperation and Coordination between the Syrian Arab Republic and the Lebanese Republic.* [pdf] UN. Available at: https://peacemaker.un.org/sites/peacemaker.un.org/files/LB-

SY 910522 TreatyBrotherhoodCooperationCoordination.pdf> [Accessed on 28 January 2019].

United Nation Committee Against Torture, 2014. *Summary of the results proceedings concerning the inquiry on Lebanon*. [pdf] UN committee against torture a/69/44 paras. 100-15 and annex XIII. Available at: <<u>https://documents-dds-</u>

ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G14/125/96/PDF/G1412596.pdf?OpenElement> [Accessed 7 February 2019].

United Nations Convention on Transnational Organized Crime, 2000. United Nations Convention on Transnational Organized Crime and the Protocols Thereto. [pdf] United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. Available at: <<u>https://treaties.un.org/doc/Treaties/2000/11/20001115%2011-</u>11%20AM/Ch_XVIII_12p.pdf> [Accessed 5 March 3019].

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), 1997. *Note on the Principle of Non-Refoulement.* [online] UNHCR. Available at: <<u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/438c6d972.html</u>> [Accessed on 7 February 2019].

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), 2016. *New entry & renewal procedures for Syrians in Lebanon (Q&A)*. Available at: <u>https://www.refugees-lebanon.org/en/news/35/qa-on-new-entry--renewalprocedures-for-syrians-in-lebanon</u> [last accessed 16 June 2019]

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), 2019. *Situation Syria Regional Refugee*. [online] Operational Portal Refugee Situations. Available at: <<u>https://data2.unhcr.org/en/situations/syria/location/71></u> [Accessed 7 February 2019].

United Nations Interim Force in Lebanon (UNIFIL), 2018. Official twitter account of the United Nations Interim Force in Lebanon. [online] UNIFIL. Available at: https://twitter.com/unifil/status/983381822385082369> [Accessed 27 January 2019].

United Nations Interim Force in Lebanon (UNIFIL), n.d. UNIFIL Mandate, [online] UNIFIL. Available at: https://unifil.unmissions.org/unifil-mandate> [Accessed 27 January 2019].

United Nations Security Council (UNSC), 1949. *Israeli-Lebanese General Armistice* Agreement. [pdf] United Nations Peacemaker. Available at: <<u>https://peacemaker.un.org/sites/peacemaker.un.org/files/IL%20LB_490323_IsraeliLebaneseGeneral</u> <u>ArmisticeAgreement.pdf</u>> [Accessed 9 February 2019].

United Nations Security Council (UNSC), 1978a. *Resolution 425.* [online] UNSC. Available at: <<u>http://unscr.com/en/resolutions/425</u>> [Accessed 7 February 2019].

United Nations Security Council (UNSC), 1978b. *Resolution 426*. [online] UNSC. Available at: <<u>http://unscr.com/en/resolutions/426</u>> [Accessed 7 February 2019].

United Nations Security Council (UNSC), 2006. *Resolution 1701*. [online] UNSC. Available at: <<u>http://unscr.com/en/resolutions/1701</u>> [Accessed 9 February 2019].

United Nations Truce Supervision Organization (UNTSO), n.d. *UNTSO Operations*. [online] UNSC. Available at: https://untso.unmissions.org/untso-operations [Accessed 27 January 2019].

United States Department of State, 2018. *Congressional Budget Justification for Foreign Operations Appendix 2, Fiscal Year 2019.* [pdf] Department of State. Available at: <<u>https://www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/FY-2019-Department-of-State-Foreign-Operations-Congressional-Budget-Justification-Appendix-2-.pdf</u>> [Accessed on 2 March 2019].

VaSyr., 2017. The Vulnerability Assessment for Syrian Refugees in Lebanon. [pdf] UNICEF, UNHCR & WFP. Available at:

<<u>https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/VASyR%202017.compressed.pdf</u>> [Accessed 7 February 2019].

Voa News, 2018. UN: Lebanon, Israel at risk of renewed conflict. *Voa News, Middle East,* [online] 30 August. Available at: <<u>https://www.voanews.com/a/un-lebanon-israel-at-risk-of-renewed-</u> <u>conflict/4551901.html</u>> [Accessed 5 February 2019].

World Atlas, 2017. *Lebanon*. [online] (Last updated 7 April 2017) Available at: <<u>https://www.worldatlas.com/webimage/countrys/asia/lb.htm</u>> [Accessed 13 March 2019].